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GENERAL INFORMATION
The following information is derived f rom and should be read in
conjunction with the full text and def initions section of the Private
Offering Memorandum (the “POM”) of Vietnam Phoenix Fund Limited
(the “Company” or “Fund”), dated March 2021, copies of which are
available on request by contacting Duxton Capital (Australia) Pty Ltd
(“Duxton Capital (Australia)” or “Duxton” or the “Investment Manager”) at
vpf@duxtonam.com.
Duxton Capital (Australia) is the investment manager of the Fund.
As an alternative asset management f irm, Duxton Capital (Australia)
specialises in listed equities across Asia and emerging markets, as
well as investments in direct agriculture and Australian hospitality
assets. Duxton Capital (Australia) was incorporated in Australia in
2013 and obtained its Australian Financial Services Licence (“AFSL”)
(AFSL no. 450218) in 2014.
Vietnam Phoenix Fund Limited was registered with the Cayman
Islands Monetary Authority (“CIMA”) with effect f rom 1 January 2017,
pursuant to Section 4 (3) of the Mutual Funds Law (Revised) of the
Cayman Islands. Prior to a shareholder resolution to change the
Company name at the Annual General Meeting held on 30 September
2016 the Company was previously known as the DWS Vietnam
Fund Limited which was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13
September 2006 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Revised) of the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability.
The investment objective of the Vietnam Phoenix Fund Class A (“VPF
A”) Shares portfolio is to seek long-term capital appreciation by
investing directly or indirectly in a diversif ied portfolio of securities
of companies that do some or all or their business in Vietnam. The
Company may also invest in securities issued by governmental
agencies. The Fund has been structured as an open-ended
investment fund to allow investors to collectively invest in pursuit of
the investment objective
The investment objective of the Vietnam Phoenix Fund Class C
(“VPF C”) portfolio was to realise the assets of its portfolio of Private
Equity Shares in an orderly manner that sought to achieve a balance
between maximising the value of the portfolio and returning cash to
holders of VPF C shares promptly by means of pro rata redemptions.
On 25 March 2021, having successfully disposed of the remaining
holdings, the Company conducted the VPF C Final Redemption
exercise to return the balance of capital to investors and delisted
VPF C f rom Euronext Dublin.

PAGE

6

PAGE

7

from the CEO.

INVESTMENT MANAGER’S
YEAR IN REVIEW & OUTLOOK
VIETNAM’S MULTI-YEAR GROWTH STORY
2021 presented a year of unique challenges for the global economy
and Vietnam’s economy, despite this, the Ho Chi Minh Stock
Exchange Index (“VNIndex”) demonstrated both resilience and
continued growth. As the Investment Manager we are pleased to
inform Shareholders that the Vietnam Phoenix Fund outperformed
the VNIndex benchmark, with the Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per VPF
A Shares increasing by 39.8% in 2021. Following the successful
redemption of the f inal private equity investment in January 2021
the VPF C Shares were entirely redeemed, delisted f rom Euronext
Dublin, and cancelled.
We are proud to announce that that the Vietnam Phoenix Fund
has been awarded both the ‘Investors Choice’ award and the ‘Top
Performer’ award in the “Emerging Markets Equity Fund – Under
$100m” category in the 2022 Investors Choice Awards hosted by
Allocator. This is the second consecutive year that the Company
has been awarded the Top Performer award. The ‘Top Performer’
awards are granted to select funds which have outperformed in each
category while ‘Investors Choice’ awards are granted to the fund
with the highest qualitative scores. Institutional investors worldwide
score the Top Performers on a range of qualitative criteria including
investment processes, risk f ramework, transparency, teamwork, and
ability to generate alpha.
The economy was hit harshly by Vietnam’s fourth wave of the
COVID-19 pandemic, with year-on-year GDP contracting 6.2% in the
third quarter, the highest quarterly reduction on record. Despite this
Vietnam showed resilience and rebounded with full year GDP still
increasing by 2.6%, underpinned by record Foreign Direct Investment
(“FDI”), strong trade, and domestic credit growth. The VNIndex
saw remarkable performance, emerging as the best performing
stock market in ASEAN in 2021. We remain conf ident in Vietnam’s
continued growth and expect a strong recovery in the business
environment, with the country’s high vaccination rate paving the
way for reopening of borders. We believe Vietnam will continue to
benef it f rom economic tailwinds and multiple structural engines of
growth, including its sizeable population, attractive demographics,
increasing urbanisation, Free Trade Agreements, strong trade
and FDI, and a rapidly expanding middle class. Furthermore, the
implementation of broader f iscal stimulus packages is expected to
boost domestic consumption and inf rastructure investment.
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Duxton is pleased to announce the promotion of Ms Ha Vu Thu as
Portfolio Manager for the Fund. Ha has been working as the deputy
portfolio manager and equity analyst for the Fund since joining
Duxton at the beginning of 2019. Ha has over 8 years’ experience
in the Vietnam listed equity markets and holds a master’s degree
in Financial Analysis f rom La Trobe University, Australia. Ha will
be taking over f rom Ms Sharon Seet who together with Ha have
steered the Fund through a remarkable period of performance and
shareholder returns.
Having completed a major restructure of the Fund with the successful
delisting and liquidation of VPF C, Mr Judd Kinne and Mr Martin
Adams have indicated their intention to step down f rom the board
of the Fund later this year. We would like to take this opportunity
to thank them for their contribution to the success of the Fund and
look forward to working with their successors.
In summary the Company’s excellent performance in 2021 combined
with the ‘Investors Choice’ and ‘Top Performer’ Award by Allocator
demonstrates a continued commitment to its shareholders,
achieving its investment objectives and more broadly its continuing
conviction in Vietnam’s multiyear growth story. In keeping with the
company’s strong performance in 2021 we retain our positive outlook
for the Vietnam equity markets in 2022.
On behalf of Duxton, I would like to extend a thank you to the
Shareholders for your ongoing support throughout the past year.

Stephen Duerden
CEO
Duxton Capital (Australia)
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AN INTRODUCTION TO THE
INVESTMENT MANAGER

Duxton Capital (Australia) is an alternative asset management f irm specialising
in investments in Asia and emerging markets, direct Australian agriculture, and
Australian hospitality assets.
The Duxton Group was founded in 2009 following a spin-out f rom Deutsche Asset
Management, having been created to provide bespoke investment solutions and
services to institutional investors, family off ices, foundations, private banks, and
ultra-high net worth individuals. Under the leadership of Ed Peter, former Head of
Deutsche Asset Management Asia Pacif ic, Middle East & North Af rica and Stephen
Duerden, former COO and Director of Deutsche Asset Management Asia Pacif ic,
Duxton’s assets under management, advice and administration have grown to AUD
~$1.1 billion. Duxton currently has off ices in Singapore and Australia, employing
over 60 staff, including a team of 21 investment professionals.
In addition to our Asian emerging markets equities focus, Duxton is a leading
participant in Australian agricultural and hospitality investments. Duxton aims to
be a world leader in sustainable agriculture at scale, underpinned by a sustainability
ethos that resonates across all Duxton’s investments. Duxton currently manages
or advises investments in Australian farmland operations across three States and
one Territory. With Australian hospitality venues being regarded as the nexus of
social life in many cities, towns, and suburbs, Duxton has invested into a rapidly
growing portfolio of hospitality assets. Duxton seeks to capitalise on historically
stable return prof iles and signif icant scope for defensive long term value creation.
The Company acknowledges the importance of responsible investing and
Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) criteria, and believes that value
is generated when businesses have strong ESG principles at the core of their
operations. Duxton continues to strengthen its ESG evaluation processes and
responsible investment f ramework. As part of its commitment to ESG, in early 2022
Duxton formalised its commitment to the universal principles of sustainability –
the United Nations Global Compact and became a member of the Responsible
Investment Association of Australasia. These global and local sustainability
initiatives provide Duxton with a platform to collaborate and develop sustainability
solutions relevant to our industry and beyond.

A summary of Duxton’s core projects include:
Duxton Water (ASX: D20) buys and leases water entitlements (or licenses) to
Australian irrigators. Offering shareholders exposure to a defensive and alternative
asset class,
Duxton Farms (ASX: DBF) owns and operates an aggregation of high quality,
eff icient broadacre farms in Central West New South Wales. The company produces
a variety of commodities across a mix of dryland and irrigated land totaling
~23,000ha.
Duxton Vineyards is a series of 5 vineyard aggregations, an 80,000T capacity
winery and distribution company, located across the Murray Darling Region in New
South Wales. The vineyards have 2,463ha under vine, representing approximately
6% of Australia’s total wine grape production.
Duxton Nuts is a walnut business across 576 planted hectares in the Murrumbidgee
Irrigation Area in the Riverina region of NSW, aiming to produce 20% of Australia’s
production at maturity.
Duxton Dried Fruit is Australia’s largest dried f ruits grower by hectares under
vine with plantings across the Sunraysia region of Victoria and New South Wales.
The business currently operates 540ha of dried grape vineyards with an additional
200ha development planned to commence in 2022. By 2029 the company aims to
produce 37% of Australia’s dried f ruit.
Duxton Bees owns and manages ~1,650 hives which are primarily located in the
Murray Darling region. Duxton Bees is looking to capitalise on the growing demand
for pollination services, honey and beeswax production, and queen bee exporting.
The company aims to be the largest bee enterprise in the Southern Hemisphere
Duxton Orchards owns, leases, and operates 316ha of apple orchards, located
at Loxton and Nangwarry in South Australia, along with a 5,127sqm storage and
packing facility at Monarto, South Australia. Duxton Orchards currently produces
approximately 4% of Australia’s apple production.
Duxton Dairies (Cobram) owns and operates a 998ha dairy allowing investors to
participate directly in the Australian dairy industry.
Duxton Pubs owns and operates a rapidly growing portfolio of venues in South
Australia, seeking to capitalise on acquisition opportunities at signif icant discounts
to their replacement values and given current economic conditions, signif icantly
higher yields than historical transactions.
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT

Duxton are proud to present our Investment Managers report for
the Vietnam Phoenix Fund for 2021. Despite considerable challenges
over the year, we are delighted to report that the Company has once
again outperformed the Vietnamese stock market benchmark, the
VNIndex.

1

In addition to this report, please refer to the additional Investor
Presentations, biannual ‘Review & Outlook’ and monthly
factsheets which are all available at the Company’s’ website:
www.vietnamphoenixfund.com.

VPF A – LISTED EQUITY

Two new series were established during the year to account for
investor subscriptions – the July 2021 Series and the December 2021
Series.
The NAV per share for the July 2021 Series as of 31 December 2021 was
USD 1.0740, increasing 7.4% f rom USD 1.0000 as of 1 July 2021. The
NAV per share for the December 2021 Series as of 31 December 2021
was USD 0.9984, decreasing 0.6% f rom USD 1.0000 as of 1 December
2021.
Each series of shares issued will accrue a liability for the payment
of any performance fees. After the date performance fees are paid,
shares in those series in which a performance fee has been paid will
generally be reclassif ied into a single series.

SHARE PERFORMANCE
The VPF A Shares portfolio (the “Portfolio”) performed very well,
increasing 39.8% in USD terms YoY in 2021, outperforming the
VNIndex by 2.4%. Vietnam was the best performing equity market
in ASEAN in 2021 with the VNIndex recording a 37.4% year-on-year
(“YoY”) increase.
TOP GAINERS

2021 Price Change

Contribution to NAV Return

FPT Corp (FPT)

+87.1%

+9.9%

Mobile World (MWG)

+74.5%

+6.2%

Hoa Phat Group (HPG)

+54.2%

+5.8%

Vinamilk (VNM)

-16.4%

-1.5%

Techcombank (TCB)

+60.8%

-0.1%

TOP LAGGARDS
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The largest contributors to the Portfolio’s return in 2021 were: FPT, contributing
9.9% to the Portfolio’s return; MWG, contributing 6.2% to the Portfolio’s return; and
HPG, contributing 5.8% to the Portfolio’s return.
VNM and TCB were the only two negatively performing holdings in 2021, impacting
the Portfolio’s return by (1.5%) and (0.1%) respectively. Despite a strong performance
during the year, TCB was a detractor to the Portfolio’s performance as the stock
reached its foreign ownership limit, requiring foreign investors including the Fund,
to purchase TCB at a premium to its trading value.

NAV UPDATE
The NAV per share for the Lead Series VPF A Shares of the Company
as of 31 December 2021 was USD 1.1450, an increase of 39.8% f rom
USD 0.8190 as of 31 December 2020.
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The outperformance was mainly driven by the Portfolio’s top holdings being
overweight relative to their weightings in the VNIndex. The Portfolio’s best & worst
performing holdings are summarised below.

NEW INVESTMENTS
Throughout the year, the Portfolio established new positions in the following three
companies.
Dat Xanh Real Estate Services (DXS) – DXS is the leading real estate brokerage
company in Vietnam with approximately 29.0% of the primary brokerage market
share at the end of 2020. The company provides both traditional primary brokerage
and full-service primary brokerage. In 2020, DXS started providing secondary
brokerage services and real estate f inancial services. DXS’s strong brand, reputation,
and nationwide distribution networks enable the company to expand more quickly
into the faster-growing tier 2 and tier 3 provinces over its competitors. DXS also
has a stronger business f ranchise relative to competitors, in terms of its ability
to provide full-service brokerage where others are unable to and its competitive
advantages to obtain exclusive distribution rights for projects on the back of its
scale and leading market position. DXS is expected to be a key benef iciary of the
structural long-term growth of Vietnam’s real estate market.
PetroVietnam Gas (GAS) – GAS is the dominant gas distributor in Vietnam. The
company provides natural gas for all the gas thermal power plants and industrial
parks in the country. The company also supplies 70.0% of the liquif ied petroleum gas
(“LPG”) available domestically. We expect GAS to be the largest benef iciary of the
anticipated recovery of energy consumption in 2022. GAS is expected to transport
up to 7.0 billion cubic meters of natural gas per annum by 2025, equivalent to
around 70.0% of Vietnam’s current piped gas output. GAS is also expected to be a
structural benef iciary f rom the country’s expected shift to renewable energy over
the long-term.
Techcombank (TCB) – Vietnam Technological and Commercial Joint Stock Bank,
commonly referred to as Techcombank, is the sixth largest bank in Vietnam in terms
of total assets. As at the end of September 2021, TCB’s current account savings
accounts (“CASA”) reached 49.0% - the highest in Vietnam’s banking industry. TCB
is well positioned to capture the expected growth in domestic banking on the back
of its high CASA level, enabling it to optimise funding costs relative to domestic
peers. Additionally, TCB’s mortgages-to-gross loans ratio is among the highest in
Vietnam, reflecting its strong competitive edge in real estate loans. As such, TCB is
expected to be one of the largest benef iciaries of the expected growth of Vietnam’s
real estate market over the next few years.
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PORTFOLIO POSITIONING

The 10 largest holdings in the Portfolio as of 31 December 2021 are
listed below.

The asset class and sector exposures of the Portfolio are summarised
in the charts below.

SECTOR EXPOSURE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

40%

LEGEND

30%

VPF A

VNIndex

20%

10%

0%
Financials

Real Estate

Consumer Information
Technology

Industrials

Materials

Energy

Others

TOP 10 HOLDINGS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
Rank

Security Name

Fair Market Value (USD)

% of NAV

1

FPT Corp

4,310,224

11.7%

2

Mobile World

3,727,986

10.1%

3

Vinhomes

3,203,698

8.7%

4

REE Corp

3,087,822

8.3%

5

Hoa Phat Group

3,078,095

8.3%

6

Vietcombank

2,936,203

7.9%

7

MB Bank

2,777,285

7.5%

8

Asia Commercial Bank

2,093,997

5.7%

9

Airports Corporation

1,810,435

4.9%

10

Vinamilk

1,806,406

4.9%

TOTAL

28,832,150

77.9%

Numbers may not add up due to rounding.

As at the end of 2021, the top 3 holdings of the fund were FPT, MWG, and Vinhomes
(“VHM”).
Relative to the VNIndex, the Portfolio is heavily weighted to consumer,
information technology, and energy sectors whilst being underweight
on the f inancial, real estate, industrial, and materials sectors.

ASSET CLASS BREAKDOWN AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
Listed Equities

103.8%

Cash

1.6%

Accrued Payables

-5.4%

Includes accruals and liabilities, adjusted to account for pending redemptions and
performance fees payable to the IM.
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FPT Corporation (FPT, +87.1%) – FPT is a leading technology company in Vietnam
with dominant positions across all of its core businesses including information
technology, telecommunication, and education. FPT benef ited f rom the
acceleration in IT services demand amidst the COVID-19 pandemic, especially the
digital transformation (focusing on artif icial intelligence, cloud computing, hyper
network, and cybersecurity) demand f rom the government and local corporates.
During the year 2021, FPT signed strategic contracts with 10 local provinces, and
several ministries and state-owned institutions (including the Ministry of Finance,
the Ministry of Trade, and the Ministry of Education) for the implementation of
digital transformation services between 2021 and 2025. The company also provides
digital transformation services to multiple large listed and private corporations
in Vietnam such as HPG, Thien Long, Dat Xanh, Coteccons, etc. As at the end of
November 2021, FPT had signed c.USD 660 million of new contracts YTD, up 30%
YoY. FPT’s strong growth is shown by their software labour force increasing by
c.30% YoY to around 21,000 employees as at the end of November 2021.
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We believe the company’s strong backlog of contracts to provide
IT services will support its growth over the medium term while
FPT’s digital transformation will be a key growth driver for the
company over the long-term due to accelerating demand of digital
transformation projects f rom corporate clients domestically and
internationally. Vietnam’s government is targeting an increase in
the digital economy’s share of gross domestic product (“GDP”) f rom
5.0% in 2019 to 20.0% in 2025.

Vinhomes JSC (VHM, +22.4%) – VHM is a leading real estate developer in Vietnam
with the largest privately owned land bank in the country, consisting of 16,800 ha
of land area (more than three times the size held by the next largest developer),
comprising of 13,000 ha of residential and commercial land, and 3,800 ha of
industrial land. 63% of its total land bank is located in the North, 23% located in
the South, and 14% in the Central regions. As of September 2021, in terms of area
built, VHM accounted for 41% market share in Vietnam’s high-end condominium
segment and 33% market share in Vietnam’s mid-end residential segment.

Mobile World Investment Corporation (MWG, +74.5%) – MWG is

As the lockdown restrictions have been easing steadily and the country’s vaccination
rate has reached above 80.0%, we expect the new sale launches of VHM’s mega
projects, including Wonder Park (133ha in west Hanoi) and Dream City (Ocean Park
2 – 445ha in south Ha Noi) to support VHM’s sales in 2022. We maintain a long-term
positive outlook on VHM due to several factors: (1) as the leader in Vietnamese real
estate development sector, VHM is expected to be the largest benef iciary of the
recovery of Vietnamese real estate market post lockdowns; (2) VHM’s substantial
residential land bank is sizeable enough to support VHM’s growth for approximately
the next 10 years; and (3) with its sizable land bank at strategic locations in the
North, VHM’s industrial real estate segment should be well positioned to benef it
f rom the structural shift of global manufacturing activity to Vietnam.

one of the largest retailers in Vietnam, focusing on mobile phone,
electronic products, and groceries. MWG has a dominant market
share within Vietnam in its main businesses. These include its
mobile phone retail chain – Thegioididong, which has approximately
48% market share, and Dienmayxanh, its consumer electronic retail
chain which has approximately 44% market share as at the end of
2020. MWG launched its grocery stores chain Bachoaxanh (“BHX”)
in 2018, which has grown signif icantly to become one of the core
growth drivers for MWG.
The COVID-19 pandemic has had both negative and positive impacts
on MWG’s businesses. MWG experienced weaker performance
in its mobile phone and consumer electronic retail chains due to
store closures during the lockdown and an environment of weaker
discretionary spending. In contrast, its grocery store chain BHX and
its online sales have grown strongly.
Despite the constraints f rom social distancing measures implemented
during the COVID-19 pandemic, MWG has managed to expand its
businesses with the launch of the TopZone chain – Apple Authorised
Reseller and Apple Premium Reseller stores, in October 2021 and f ive
other retail chains including AVASport (sporting goods), AVAFashion
(apparel), AVAKids (mom and kid products), AVAJi (mass-market
jewelry), and AVACycle (bicycles) in January 2022.
Due to its experienced management team, continued strong cash
flows and wide customer base, MWG is able to build a durable
f ranchise of multiple stores combined with a strong online presence
that can further withstand competitive pressure to capture the
recovery of discretionary spending. We expect MWG to emerge in a
stronger position f rom 2022 onwards.
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VPF C – PRIVATE EQUITY
NAV UPDATE
As of 31 December 2021, the VPF C Shares of the company have been
fully redeemed, delisted f rom Euronext Dublin, and cancelled. The
closing NAV per share of the VPF C Shares effective 25 March 2021
was USD 0.2366.

FINAL REDEMPTION
The VPF C portfolio at 1 January 2021 comprised of cash and its
holding of a convertible bond issued by Anova Corporation (“Anova”).
The VPF C redemption of the Anova convertible bond was completed
on 15 January 2021.
The Company conducted the f inal redemption to return capital to
investors and cancelled all remaining VPF C shares on 25 March 2021.
In determining the f inal redemption, the Company reserved and
withheld cash attributable to the VPF C shares, which was utilised
to settle accrued costs, expenses, and liabilities attributable to the
VPF C Shares.
The Company delisted its VPF C Shares f rom Euronext Dublin on 25
March 2021.
Following the f inal redemption, the Company made the f inal cash
distribution. Consistent with the resolution approved by VPF C
Shareholders at the Company’s Extraordinary General Meeting held
on 30 December 2020, the Board was authorised to donate any
remaining surplus assets attributable to the VPF C Shares amounting
to a maximum of USD 25,000.00 to the Saigon Children’s Charity.
Upon settlement of all costs, expenses, and liabilities attributable
to the VPF C shares, the Company made a total donation of USD
17,774.57 to the Saigon Children’s Charity.
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ECONOMY AND EQUITY MARKET OVERVIEW
VIETNAM’S ECONOMIC OVERVIEW
After an impressive performance in 1H 2021, with the COVID-19
pandemic under relatively good control until early June 2021,
Vietnam’s economy was hit harshly by the fourth wave of the
COVID-19 pandemic and the breakout of the COVID-19 Delta variant
in most provinces in Q3 2021. Cases related to the fourth wave of the
COVID-19 pandemic started to increase in June and several provinces
were placed into strict lockdown for most of Q3 2021, including Hanoi,
Ho Chi Minh, and 18 other provinces in the south which together
contributed over 70.0% of Vietnam’s total GDP in 2020. As a result,
Vietnam’s GDP contracted 6.2% YoY in Q3 2021 – the largest quarterly
contraction in Vietnam’s GDP on record.
The COVID-19 pandemic started to stabilise f rom late August with
the rapid COVID-19 vaccine rollout enabling provinces to loosen
lockdown restrictions f rom mid-September. Between 30 August 2021
and 31 December 2021, the number of administered vaccines rose
f rom 20.2 million to 150.9 million, covering 75.0% of the country’s
population. Social distancing measures have been removed and
manufacturers have resumed operations post lockdown.
Vietnam’s key economic indicators are summarised and discussed
below.

VIETNAM ECONOMIC INDICATORS
2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

Real GDP Growth

%

2.9

2.9

7.0

7.1

6.7

CPI

%

1.8

3.2

2.8

3.5

2.6

Export Growth

%

19.0

6.5

8.4

13.8

20.6

Import Growth

%

26.5

3.6

6.8

11.5

21.3

Trade Balance

USD bn

4.0

19.1

11.1

7.2

2.3

Registered FDI

USD bn

24.3

21.0

22.5

25.6

35.9

FX Reserves

USD bn

105

95

80

60

52

VND

22,826

23,098

23,173

23,245

22,968

VND USD

*Source: The General Statistic Off ice of Vietnam, Vietnam Custom, Bloomberg, Trading Economics.
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Subdued GDP growth – In 2021 Vietnam recorded a GDP growth
of 2.6% YoY – one of the lowest GDP growth rates in Southeast Asia.
The implementation of strict lockdowns amidst the fourth wave of
the COVID-19 pandemic in Q3 2021 caused severe disruption to the
country’s economy, particularly in the services and manufacturing
sectors.
The primary contributors to Vietnam’s GDP growth in 2021 were the
industrial and construction sectors with a growth rate of 4.0% YoY,
contributing 37.9% to total GDP. This was followed by the services
sector with growth of 1.2% YoY, contributing 40.9% to total GDP, and
the agriculture, forestry, and f isheries sector with growth of 2.9%
YoY, contributing 12.4% to total GDP.
Inflation remained well managed – Vietnam’s average consumer
price index (“CPI”) rose 1.8% YoY in 2021 – the lowest average fullyear CPI since 2016. This was well below the government’s target of
4.0%. The modest increase in CPI was mainly due to the increases
in gasoline and commodities prices. However, these increases were
partly offset by the reduction in telecom services and education
services prices in a bid to support households and businesses who
were impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Record high FDI – as at 20 December 2021, Vietnam YTD had
attracted USD 24.3 billion (+15.5% YoY) of total newly registered
foreign direct investment (“FDI”) and additional FDI f rom existing
investors. Disbursed FDI fell by 1.3% YoY to USD 19.7 billion. The
primary contributors to registered FDI in 2021 were manufacturing
projects of traditional partner countries including the Long An LNG
Power Plants I & II projects with a registered capital of USD 3.1 billion
f rom Singapore, the LG Display Hai Phong project with a registered
capital of USD 2.1 billion f rom South Korea, and the O Mon II Thermal
Power Plant with a registered capital of USD 1.3 billion f rom South
Korea. Despite travel restrictions constraints, FDI bounced back
strongly f rom a negative performance in 2020, implying positive
expectations of foreign investors regarding the recovery of Vietnam
following the COVID-19 pandemic.
Strong trade recovery – According to Vietnam’s General Statistics
Off ice, Vietnam exported USD 336.3 billion (+19.0% YoY) and imported
USD 332.3 billion (+26.5% YoY), generating a trading surplus of USD 4.0
billion (-79.6% YoY). Mobile phones and mobile phone components
remained the largest contributor to Vietnam’s exports with total
exports of USD 57.5 billion (+13.0% YoY), followed by computers,
electronics, and electronic components with total exports of USD
51.1 billion (+14.4% YoY). In terms of imports, computers, electronics,
and electronic components were the largest contributor with total
imports of USD 75.9 billion (+18.6% YoY), followed by machinery with
total imports of USD 46.2 billion (+23.5% YoY).
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Strong credit growth – The State Bank of Vietnam estimated that
credit growth in 2021 reached 14.0% YoY – higher than the 12.0%
credit growth in 2020. The strong credit growth was mainly due to a
decrease in borrowing rates and several packages f rom commercial
banks to support customers whose businesses were impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic. We note however that due to the impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic, the proportion of bad debt and potential bad
debt in the economy rose f rom 5.1% as at the end of 2020 to 8.2% at
the end of 2021.
Currency appreciation – as at 31 December 2021, the VND appreciated
by 1.2% during the year against the USD. The appreciation in local
currency was driven by several factors including (1) strong FDI inflows;
(2) the trading surplus; and (3) the State Bank of Vietnam reducing
its foreign currency purchases f rom local commercial banks by half
to approximately USD 10.0 billion.
Rising unemployment – Vietnam’s labour market suffered due to
the fourth wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, with unemployment
increasing f rom 2.3% at the end of 2020 to 3.0% at the end of 2021.
Vietnam’s General Statistics Off ice estimated that there were 23.8
million people aged 15 and over negatively impacted by the fourth
wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. This accounts for 49.0% of Vietnam’s
total labour force as at the end of 2021, of which 4.7 million people lost
their jobs, 14.7 million people were stood down f rom employment,
and 18.9 million people had their incomes reduced.

VIETNAM’S EQUITY MARKET OVERVIEW
Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange was the best performing stock
market in ASEAN – The VNIndex increased by 37.4% in USD terms,
marking it as the best performing stock market in ASEAN in 2021.
This performance was mainly driven by robust inflows f rom local
investors. According to the Vietnam Securities Depository, 1.5
million new trading accounts were opened in 2021, equivalent to
1.5x of total new openings in the previous 3 years (2017-2020). The
average daily trading value tripled to USD 1.1 billion in 2021, of which
domestic investors accounted for 92.0%. The booming inflows f rom
local investors resulted f rom lower interest rates coupled with the
developing electronic know-your-customer systems which enables
domestic investors to trade the VNIndex with greater ease.
2021 INDEX

2022

2022

MKT CAP

CHANGE

FORWARD

EPS3

INDEX CODE

(USD bn)

(USD)

P/E1

PEG2

GROWTH

ROE4

VNINDEX

255.8

37.3%

17.5

0.4

30.7%

16.5%

Indonesia

JCI

577.0

8.5%

25.6

0.3

61.1%

14.4%

Singapore

FSSTI

377.3

7.7%

19.7

0.3

45.5%

7.0%

SET

582.3

2.5%

15.1

-1.2

-14.5%

12.5%

PCOMP

185.7

-6.0%

23.5

0.4

38.4%

10.1%

FBMKLCI

250.4

-7.0%

15.6

3.0

5.0%

23.1%

COUNTRY
Vietnam

Thailand
Philippines
Malaysia

Source: Bloomberg 31/12/2021
1: Price-earnings ratio, 2: Price/earnings-to-Growth ratio, 3: Earnings per share, 4: Return on Equity
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Vietnam’s key trading partners recovered strongly in 2021. The US
continued to be Vietnam’s largest export destination with total
exports of USD 95.6 billion (+24% YoY), followed by China with total
exports of USD 55.9 billion (+14% YoY) and the EU with total exports
of USD 39.9 billion (+14% YoY). On the import side, China remained
the largest import source with total imports of USD 109.9 billion
(+30% YoY), followed by South Korea with total imports of USD 56.1
billion, (+20% YoY) and ASEAN countries with total imports of USD
41.1 billion (+35% YoY).
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4

ECONOMY AND EQUITY MARKET OUTLOOK
VIETNAM’S ECONOMIC OUTLOOK
COVID-19 persists but the new normal is adopted – Vietnam
recorded a daily average of 10,000 cases of community infections in
the last week of April 2022. Vietnam’s COVID-19 vaccination rate has
been above 80.0%, with 50.0% of the country’s population having
received the booster shots since January 2022. Vietnam has adopted
a “Living with COVID” strategy and has re-opened its travel borders
and removed border measures f rom 15 February 2022.
Large stimulus package – Vietnam’s government has approved
a stimulus package to bolster the country’s economy with a total
commitment of USD 15.3 billion for the period 2022-2023, equivalent
to 4.2% of the government’s 2022 target nominal GDP. This stimulus
package is considerably broader than the total f iscal support
of 2.7% of 2020 nominal GDP for the period 2020-2021. In this
stimulus package, USD 7.7 billion is expected to be used to support
individuals and businesses against the COVID-19 pandemic (mostly
in the form of interest rate cuts, healthcare, social security, and
labor and employment support), USD 4.5 billion will be disbursed for
inf rastructure projects, and USD 2.8 billion will be used for tax cuts.
As a part of the stimulus package, the value added tax has been cut
f rom 10.0% to 8.0% f rom 1 Jan 2022.
Domestic interest rates are expected to remain low – Despite the
government’s plan to use USD 2.0 billion for an interest rate cut of
2.0% per year for people and businesses who have been impacted
by the COVID-19 pandemic, we expect a modest increase in average
interest rates in 2022 due to increasing borrowing demands f rom
businesses who have resumed their operations coupled with the
hike in global interest rates.
Modest inflation – Inflationary pressures are expected to accelerate
as Vietnam continues to expand its f iscal spending to stimulate its
economy and economic growth. A trend further compounded by
the emergence of conflict in Eastern Europe and rising commodity
prices. However, due to the cautious travel border reopening and the
capability to control increases in food and utility prices, we believe
the Vietnamese government will be able to achieve the National
Assembly’s CPI growth target of 4.0% in 2022.

Continued strong trade – The Ministry of Trade is targeting growth of 6.0-8.0%
YoY in the 2022 trade value. We believe this target is achievable due to several
factors: (1) Vietnam continues to reopen its borders with its key trading partners
who have recovered strongly; (2) Supply chain disruptions and logistic processes
are expected to improve this year following extensive disruptions caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic; and (3) the Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership
f ree trade agreement (“FTA”) with 15 Asian and Oceanian countries, who account
for c.30.0% of the global economy, took effect f rom 1 January 2022.
Reopening to attract FDI – High vaccination rates and a “Living with COVID”
strategy has allowed Vietnam to reopen its borders earlier than other peer countries.
Loosening travel restrictions and quarantine requirements for foreigners entering
Vietnam, and skilled workers who can readily adapt to COVID-19 restrictions are
the country’s key advantages to attract FDI flows as global manufacturing recovers
f rom the pandemic.
Resumed GDP growth – Vietnam’s government has established a GDP target of
6.0-6.5% in 2022. We view this target as achievable due to: (1) the high vaccination
rates which will mitigate the need for strict lockdowns which caused severe
disruptions in the economy last year; (2) Considerable Government f iscal policy and
stimulus package are expected to boost domestic consumption and construction
investment; and (3) travel borders reopening, which will support a recovery in the
domestic services sector and maintain strong trade and FDI inflows.

VIETNAM’S EQUITY MARKET OUTLOOK
While the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to persist, Vietnam’s economy is expected
to progressively adapt to a new normal. We believe the long-term structural drivers
of Vietnam’s equity markets remain, which include:
an expanding middle class and rising average incomes, which is expected to
fuel continued growth in domestic consumption;
increasing urbanisation and inf rastructure developments which are supported
by robust public investment programs;
a stable political economy and currency;
s trong FDI inflows with Vietnam being a long-term benef iciary of the adjustments
in global supply chains; and
a healthy growth in trade flows, driven by the implementation of several FTAs.

1. Source: https://COVIDvax.live/location/vnm
2. Source: https://e.vnexpress.net/news/business/economy/vietnam-eyes-15-bln-stimulus-package-4411906.html
3. S
 ource: https://en.vietstock.vn/2022/01/trade-ministry-targets-6-8-export-growth-in-2022-974-467627.htm
4. Source: https://asean.org/rcep-agreement-enters-into-force/
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Looking ahead to 2022, we expect a strong recovery in the economy
and business environment for Vietnamese corporates, which are
driven by:
the country’s high vaccination rate which should reduce the
probability of future widespread lockdowns;
the implementation of generous stimulus packages that are
expected to boost domestic consumption and inf rastructure
investment; and
 otential imminent re-opening of more travel borders that will
p
support a recovery of the Vietnam service sector, along with
trade and FDI inflows. Given an expectation of strong underlying
economic recovery, we see further upside for the Vietnam equity
markets in 2022 due to continued expected earnings growth of
Vietnamese corporates.
Further, we see other factors lending support to the Vietnam equity
market during 2022, including:
continued inflows f rom retail investors due to expected low
domestic interest rates;
the successful implementation of a new trading system f rom Q2
2022 enabling almost immediate trade settlements, potentially
increasing overall market liquidity and paving the way for Vietnam
to move f rom its current f rontier market classif ication to that of
emerging market under MSCI, which is expected to boost inflows
f rom foreign investors; and
 ore IPO offerings and state divestments are expected to occur
m
in 2022. IPO offerings in 2022 are expected to include the IPO
of SPEs of Vietnam National Coal – Mineral Industries Holding
Corporation Limited (“Vinacomin”) and Vietnam Northern Food
Corporation (“Vinafood”), as well as the IPO of some large real
estate companies such as Phu Long and Hung Thinh. State
divestments are expected to include the divestment of stakes in
Sabeco (“SAB”), Bao Viet Holding (“BVH”), FPT Corporation (“FPT”),
and Bao Minh Insurance Corporation (“BMI”).
We continue to adopt a high-conviction, bottom-up fundamental
investment approach. We seek to invest in companies that are
expected to create shareholder value over the long-term, while
selecting stocks that we assess to be trading at prices that do not
fully reflect their long-term potential. We emphasise a long-term
investment approach, as we believe that the creation of shareholder
value takes time to execute over a multi-year horizon.

5. S ource: https: //vietnamnews.vn/society/1112354/viet-nam-sets-gdp-target-6-65-per-cent-vaccinecoverage-highest-among-nations.html
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ESG AND RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT
The Investment Manager recognises the importance of responsible
investing and ESG criteria. Therefore, we continue to strengthen our
responsible investment f ramework and ESG evaluation processes.
Duxton’s viewpoint is that responsible investment is the integration
of ESG considerations into investment management processes; in
the belief that these factors can have an impact on both f inancial and
non-f inancial performance. In our view, companies that consider the
non-f inancial factors of their operational impacts on the environment
and society, are well placed to have sustainable economic growth, as
they are less likely to have operations impacted by changing ESG
regulations. As a result, these companies pose reduced reputational
risk for investors. In our f iduciary role, Duxton seeks to grow clients’
net wealth sustainably over the long-term, continually developing
and implementing an in-depth ESG f ramework for the benef it of
investors, investment managers, investees, and Vietnam.
As part of its commitment to ESG, Duxton is a member of, or a
signatory to, the following global and local sustainability-related
initiatives. These provide Duxton with a platform to collaborate and
develop sustainability solutions relevant to our industry and beyond.
Duxton has recently formalised its sustainability ethos through
committing to the universal principles of sustainability – the
United Nations Global Compact (“UNGC”). Launched in 2000, it is
the world’s largest corporate sustainability initiative. The UNGC is a
voluntary leadership platform for the development, implementation
and disclosure of responsible business practices. Duxton Capital
(Australia) is aligning its operations and strategies with 10 universally
accepted sustainability principles in the areas of human rights,
labour, environment and anti-corruption and take action in support
of the United Nations Sustainability Development Goals.
With over 450 members, the Responsible Investment Association
Australasia (“RIAA”) is the largest and most active network of people
and organisations engaged in responsible, ethical and impact
investing across Australia and New Zealand. RIAA champions
responsible investing and a sustainable f inancial system in Australia
and New Zealand. RIAA is dedicated to ensuring capital is aligned
with achieving a healthy society, environment and economy.
While we endeavour to continue to strengthen our responsible
investment f ramework, we acknowledge there are signif icant
challenges posed in f rontier markets like Vietnam. The integration of
ESG considerations as part of the long-term strategies of Vietnamese
businesses is still in its infancy. Moving forward, we expect an
increased focus on the adoption of more sustainable principles
by Vietnamese corporates as international investors increase their
ESG expectations and include them in the investment selection
processes.

PAGE

32

INVESTMENT
BA RIA - VUNG
MANAGERS
TAU
REPORT
VIETNAM
VPF ANNUAL REPORT 2022

INVESTMENT MANAGERS REPORT
VPF ANNUAL REPORT 2022

PAGE

33

6

KEY RISKS IN 2022
Apart f rom the inherent risks of investing, and those disclosed in
the supporting notes to the f inancial statements, the Investment
Manager would like to draw attention to the following points that
may adversely impact the Portfolio’s performance over the next year
Higher than expected domestic inflation – Pressure f rom global
economy inflation coupled with broad domestic stimulus packages
could lead to higher than expected inflation in Vietnam. The State
Bank has flagged potential inflation concerns and signaled that
monetary policy may be tightened resulting in rising domestic
interest rates.
Higher than expected increases in interest rates – Over the last two
years, on the back of a low interest rate environment, the inflow f rom
retail investors has been a key contributor to the strong performance
of the Vietnamese stock market. These flows are unlikely to be
sustainable in the event that domestic interest rates increase. As
a result, the stock price performance of some investee companies
is likely to be impacted should there be a widespread withdrawal
of retail money f rom the stock market. Moreover, a higher-thanexpected increase in interest rates might impact the prof itability of
those investee companies which have signif icant f inancial leverage.
The outlook for 2022 in many developed economies is for rising
interest rates.
New or renewed healthcare crisis – the emergence of new viruses
or new strains of COVID-19, which current vaccines are not effective
against, may threaten the local healthcare system resulting in
further lockdown restrictions to be imposed. Although corporates
and businesses are more prepared to operate during lockdowns,
the implementation of strict social distancing measures will cause
multiple disruptions to the economy.
Conflict in Eastern Europe – the outbreak of conflict in Eastern
Europe and the resulting implementation of sanctions are unlikely
to directly impact Vietnam’s economy due to minor trade and FDI
flows between Vietnam and Russia or Ukraine. However, uncertainty
around the conflict is likely to result in increased global commodity
and energy prices. This will negatively impact Vietnam’s economy in
2022. Due to the increase in commodity pricing, the prof itability of
investee companies who only pass a portion of their rising product
costs to customers might be impacted.
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Cayman Islands
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Internet www.kpmg.ky
Independent Auditors' Report to the Board of Directors
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Vietnam Phoenix Fund Limited (the “Company”), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, the statements of
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes,
comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2021, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

© 2022 KPMG a Cayman Islands partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG
International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights
reserved.
Document classification: KPMG Confidential

Independent Auditors' Report to the Board of Directors (continued)
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
-

-

-

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company
to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

May 19, 2022

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for preparing the Company’s f inancial statements (the
“f inancial statements”).
In preparing the f inancial statements, the Directors are required to:
select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state that the f inancial statements comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); and
 repare the f inancial statements on the going concern basis unless it is
p
inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.
The Board is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the f inancial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the f inancial statements comply with IFRS. They are
also responsible for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard
the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect f raud and other irregularities.
IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ and its subsequent amendment
relating to Investment Entities (“IE”) has been applicable for periods commencing
1 January 2014. The Board has concluded that, under those requirements, the
Company qualif ies as an IE and is required to carry its special purpose entities
(“SPEs”) at fair value through prof it or loss instead of consolidating them. This
revised accounting method was f irst applied in 2014.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the period of these f inancial statements, the Board was responsible for the
review and approval of the annual f inancial statements as set out in the Statement
of Directors’ Responsibilities. The f inancial statements are required to be audited by
independent auditors who report annually to the Board on their f indings. The Board
monitors and evaluates the independent auditor’s performance, qualif ication, and
independence. As part of its review procedures, the Directors receive presentations
f rom relevant parties including consideration of developments in international
accounting standards and their impact on the annual f inancial statements,
presentations, and reports on the audit process. The Board evaluates and discusses
signif icant accounting and reporting issues as the need arises.
The Administrator prepares valuations based on the fair value of the SPEs for the
Company at each valuation point. Each valuation of the Company is reviewed in
accordance with standard operating procedures of the Administrator. The f inancial
statements are prepared by the Administrator in accordance with IFRS and the
Administrator uses various internal controls and checklists to ensure the f inancial
statements include complete and appropriate disclosures required under IFRS and
relevant legislation.
In addition, the valuation as prepared by the Administrator is reconciled by the
Investment Manager to their own independent records for completeness and
accuracy and further reviewed and approved by the Investment Manager.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Kevin A. Phillip
Director
Date: 19 May 2022

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
controls and risk management systems in relation to the f inancial reporting
process of the Company. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of error or f raud in achieving the Company’s f inancial reporting
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
The Board has procedures in place to ensure that all relevant books of account
are properly maintained and are readily available, including the procedures for
the production of audited annual f inancial statements. The Board has appointed
the Administrator to maintain the books and records of the Company. From time
to time, the Board, with the assistance of the Investment Manager, examines and
evaluates the Administrator’s f inancial accounting and reporting processes. The
annual f inancial statements are produced by the Administrator and reviewed by
the Investment Manager.
The annual f inancial statements are required to be approved by the Board and
f iled with CIMA.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

NOTES

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

USD

USD

INCOME
Net gain on f inancial assets at fair value
through prof it or loss

NOTES

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

USD

USD

6

50,235

6,442,224

12,13,14

38,927,343

55,658,938

59,917

-

39,037,495

62,101,162

(2,029,791)

(1,573,526)

(2,029,791)

(1,573,526)

ASSETS
2(g), 3

TOTAL NET INCOME

15,749,656

7,560,636

Cash and cash equivalents

15,749,656

7,560,636

Financial assets at fair value through
prof it or loss
Other assets

Operating expenses

4

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

(3,258,870)

(2,257,150)

(3,258,870)

(2,257,150)

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
(173,764)

Distribution expense*

-

Accounts payable
TOTAL LIABILITIES

7

TAXATION
Deferred taxation
Increase in net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable participating
shares resulting f rom operations

10

-

1,025,631

EQUITY

12,317,022

6,329,117

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable participating shares

37,007,704

60,527,636

TOTAL EQUITY

37,007,704

60,527,636

* T he distribution expense relates to f inal cash
distribution to the former registered holders of
the VPF C shares.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Kevin A. Phillip
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Director
19 May 2022

Director
19 May 2022

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these f inancial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these f inancial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

NOTES

Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable participating shares at
beginning of the year

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

USD

USD

USD

USD

60,527,636

81,478,358

Income for the year

12,317,022

6,329,117

Adjustment for non-cash items:
Decrease in f inancial assets at fair value through
prof it or loss

16,731,595

2,773,894

(59,917)

-

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable

1,023,229

(407,172)

Net cash f rom operating activities

30,011,929

8,695,839

Share subscriptions during the year

1,016,000

-

Share redemptions during the year

(37,419,918)

(26,604,288)

Net cash used in f inancing activities

(36,403,918)

(26,604,288)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(6,391,989)

(17,908,449)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the year

6,442,224

24,350,673

50,235

6,442,224

Interest received

143,802

236,355

Dividends received

424,815

730,752

-

(11,638)

(173,764)

-

Proceeds f rom issuance of share
subscriptions during the year

8

1,016,000

-

Share redemptions during the year

8

(36,852,954)

(27,279,839)

12,317,022

6,329,117

37,007,704

60,527,636

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Increase in net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable participating
shares resulting f rom operations

Increase in other assets

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable participating shares at
end of the year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
END OF THE YEAR
Cash flows f rom operating activities include:

Taxation paid
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these f inancial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these f inancial statements.
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PAGE

43

VPF ANNUAL REPORT 2022

44

VPF ANNUAL REPORT 2022

PAGE

VILLAGE OF TY
VIETNAM

PAGE

45

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1

INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

Vietnam Phoenix Fund Limited (the “Company” and “The Parent”) previously
known as DWS Vietnam Fund Limited, is an exempted company with limited
liability formed under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 13 September 2006. The
registered off ice of the Company is located at Suite 5B201, 2nd Floor, One Nexus
Way, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.
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The investment objective of the Vietnam Phoenix Fund Class C (“VPF C”) portfolio
was to realise the assets of its portfolio in an orderly manner that sought to achieve
a balance between maximising the value of the portfolio and returning cash to
holders of VPF C shares promptly by means of pro rata redemptions of VPF C
shares. VPF C shares had a f ixed life expiring on the earlier of the date on which
the last VPF C shares are redeemed and 31 December 2020, unless extended by an
ordinary resolution passed at a separate general meeting of VPF C Shareholders.
The Company held an EGM on 30 December 2020 to approve the sole resolution
to extend the Final Redemption date of the VPF C shares f rom 31 December 2020
to 31 March 2021. The resolution was duly passed. On 25 March 2021, the Company
conducted the VPF C Final Redemption exercise to return capital to investors and
delisted VPF C f rom Euronext Dublin.
The Company holds all of its investments through wholly owned subsidiary
companies which are special purpose entities (“SPEs”) incorporated outside of
Vietnam. The Company had three wholly owned SPEs, incorporated as exempted
companies with limited liability in the Cayman Islands, having the purpose of
acting as trading conduits of the Company, and operational during 2021. These
SPEs were:
1. Lionel Hill Limited
2. Beira Limited
3. Prime Limited
Of the three SPEs, Beira Limited is the only SPE active at year ended 31 December
2021. Prime Limited was liquidated and a certif icate of dissolution was received
f rom the Cayman Islands Registrar of Companies, effective 26 April 2021. Lionel
Hill Limited was liquidated and a certif icate of dissolution was received f rom the
Cayman Islands Registrar of Companies, effective 13 September 2021.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company and its SPEs (the “Group”) had no
employees. The investment activities of the Company were managed by Duxton Capital
(Australia) Pty Ltd. (“Duxton” or the “Investment Manager”). The Company appointed

2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
These f inancial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The signif icant accounting policies adopted by the
Company are set out below.
The accounting policies, presentation and methods of calculation applied by the
Company in these f inancial statements are consistent with those applied by the
Company in its f inancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.
(a) Functional and presentation currency
The f inancial statements are presented in US Dollars. The functional currency of the
Company is the US Dollar, reflecting the fact that all subscriptions received were
denominated in US Dollars. All amounts have been rounded to nearest US Dollar.
The accounting policies have been applied consistently by the Company to all
periods presented in the f inancial statements.
(b) Going concern
The f inancial statements of the Company have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The Company continues to face a number of risks caused directly or indirectly
by the COVID-19 pandemic. However, with the global vaccination roll out and
government’s experience with the virus, the world is better able to manage the
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Investment Manager continues to monitor
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s portfolio and will be
actively taking investment decisions where necessary. The Board will continue to
monitor the Company’s operating arrangements.
As of 31 December 2021, The Fund’s NAV was USD 37.0 million, relatively low
compared to other open-ended share funds. Open-ended share funds with a low
NAV face uncertainty related to continual future net redemptions and f ixed cost.
The Board considers the going concern basis still appropriate to the Company.
The Board has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern and is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for
the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.
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The investment objective of the Vietnam Phoenix Fund Class A (“VPF A”) portfolio
is to seek long- term capital appreciation by investing directly or indirectly in a
diversif ied portfolio of securities of companies that do some or all or their business
in Vietnam.

Apex Fund Services Limited (“Apex”) to maintain the books and f inancial records of
the Company as Administrator (the “Administrator”) pursuant to an agreement dated 1
April 2021. Prior to this the Company had engaged State Street Fund Services (Ireland)
Limited under an agreement which dated to 10 November 2006.
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(c) Accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of the f inancial statements, in accordance with IFRS, requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the f inancial statements and the reported amounts of income and
expenses during the year. Actual results could differ f rom those estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
The fair value of the SPE is based on the fair value of the underlying investments
it holds. As at 31 December 2021, there is no estimate involved in arriving at the
fair value of investments as all underlying investments in VPF A portfolio are listed
equities. The deferred tax provision as at year end 31 December 2021, reflected as
part of the valuation of the SPEs, was USD Nil (2020: USD Nil).
Judgements
Application of IFRS 10, its related IE Amendment and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests
in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”). The Board is satisf ied that the Company meets the
def inition of an investment entity, and has concluded that as at 31 December 2021,
one of its investments meet the def inition of subsidiary structured entities in
accordance with IFRS 10
(2020: three).
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New standards, amendments and interpretations issued and effective for the
f inancial year beginning 1 January 2021
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS
7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16). On 27 August 2020, the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) issued these amendments that address issues that might affect
f inancial reporting after the reform of an interest rate benchmark, including its
replacement with alternative benchmark rates.
Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – deferral of IFRS 9, the amendment
extends the temporary exemption f rom applying IFRS 9 until annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023. This amendment maintains the alignment of the
effective dates of IFRS 9 and IFRS 17.
Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases – COVID–19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30
June 2021, was published by IASB on 31 March 2021. It extends, by one year, the
May 2020 amendment that provides lessees with an exemption f rom assessing
whether a COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease modif ication.
The above amendments did not have a signif icant impact on the Company’s
f inancial position, performance or disclosures in its f inancial statements.
New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the
f inancial period beginning 1 January 2021 and not early adopted
IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” was issued in May 2017 and will become effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. It applies to: insurance
contracts, including reinsurance contracts, issued by an entity; reinsurance contracts
held by an entity; and investment contracts with discretionary participation
features issued by an entity that issues insurance contracts. An insurance contract

(e) Consolidation
To determine the appropriate accounting treatment as set out under IFRS 10,
“Consolidated Financial Statements” the Company has determined that it meets the
def inition of an investment entity (“IE”) as it meets the required criteria as follows:
(i) 	 It has obtained funds f rom one or more investors for the purpose of
providing those investors with investment management services;
(ii) 	It has committed to its shareholders that its business purpose is to invest
funds solely for returns f rom capital appreciation, investment income, or
both; and
(iii) 	
I t measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its
investments on a fair value basis.
In addition, the Company has concluded that it has all the following typical
characteristics of an IE, namely:
(iv) It has more than one investment;
(v)

It has multiple shareholders;

(vi) The majority of its shareholders are not related parties; and
(vii) It has ownership interests in the form of equity.
As the SPEs do not provide management services or strategic advice and all
activities are managed through the Parent company level, the Company has
concluded that all SPEs through which the Company holds its investment portfolio
are also investment entities and should be accounted for as f inancial assets at fair
value through prof it or loss.
(f ) Financial instruments
(i) Classif ication
IFRS 10 Investment Entity Amendment requires investments in SPEs to be
accounted for at fair value through prof it or loss in accordance with IFRS 9.
(ii) Recognition
The Company recognises f inancial assets and f inancial liabilities on the date
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases
of f inancial assets are recognised and derecognised using trade date
accounting. From this date any gains and losses arising f rom changes in fair
value of the f inancial assets or f inancial liabilities are recorded in Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
(iii) Measurement
Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value. Transaction costs on
f inancial assets and f inancial liabilities at fair value through prof it or loss are
expensed through operating expenses in the prof it or loss immediately while
on other f inancial instruments such costs are amortised. Subsequent to initial
recognition, except for f inancial instruments carried at amortised cost, all other
f inancial instruments are fair valued through prof it or loss.
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(d) New accounting standards, amendments and interpretations

is def ined as ‘a contract under which one party (the issuer) accepts signif icant
insurance risk f rom another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate
the policyholder if a specif ied uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely
affects the policyholder’. This new standard is not expected to have a signif icant
impact on the Company’s f inancial position, performance or disclosures in its
f inancial statements.
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(iv) Fair value measurement principles
An underlying investment in a security held through SPEs, which are quoted,
listed or normally dealt on a securities market or on another regulated market
that is active will normally be valued at the off icial close of business last traded
price on the principal market for such security. Where such security is listed or
dealt in on more than one securities market the Administrator will value the
security in the principal market, or in the absence of a principal market in the
most advantageous active market to which the entity has immediate access.
The value of any investment which is not listed or dealt in an active securities
market shall be the value using an average of available broker prices, provided
the variance between broker prices is not signif icant, the Net Asset Value (“NAV”)
as provided by a reputable administrator, or using an alternative estimation
technique to measure fair value where no broker prices are available, if this is
considered the best estimate of fair value at the year end. The fair value of the
SPEs is based on the fair value of the underlying investments they hold with a
reduction for a deferred tax provision if applicable, the calculation of which is
based on the underlying investments, as described in Note 2(o). The valuation
technique adopted for the Level 3 security in 2020 is disclosed in Note 14.
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(vi) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises current deposits with banks. Cash and cash equivalents are
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignif icant risk of changes in value and
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at
amortised cost which approximates its fair value.
(vii) Impairment of f inancial assets
The impairment model applied under IFRS 9 is the ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL)
model. This impairment model applies to f inancial assets measured at amortised
cost and debt investments at FVOCI, but not investments in equity instruments.
As the f inancial assets are carried at fair value through prof it or loss, ECL
provision on credit losses are not applicable on the Company’s f inancial assets
at fair value through prof it or loss.
(g) N et gains and losses on f inancial assets at fair value through prof it or loss
Gains and losses arising f rom investments at fair value through prof it or loss are
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The net gain f rom investments
at fair value through prof it or loss include all realised and unrealised fair value
changes, foreign exchange differences and interest and dividend income received,
calculated as described in Note 2(i) and 2( j). The net gain f rom investments at fair
value through prof it or loss is analysed in Note 3.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars, the functional
currency, at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are then subsequently
translated to US Dollars at the foreign currency closing exchange rate ruling at
the reporting date. Foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation
and realised gains and losses on disposals or settlements of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised through prof it or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated
to US Dollars at the foreign currency exchange rates ruling at the dates that the
values were determined.
Foreign exchange gains and losses on f inancial assets and f inancial liabilities at
fair value through prof it or loss are recognised together with other changes in the
fair value.
(i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised in gains and losses arising f rom investments at fair
value through prof it or loss as it accrues, using the original effective interest rates
of the instrument calculated at the later of the acquisition or origination date.
Interest income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium, or other
differences between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument
and its amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest basis.
( j) Dividend income
Dividend income relating to equity investments is recognised in gains and losses
arising f rom investments at fair value through prof it or loss on the ex-dividend
date in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. In some cases, the Company
may receive or choose to receive dividends in the form of additional shares rather
than cash. In such cases the Company recognises the dividend income through
the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the amount of the equivalent cash
dividend alternative with the corresponding debit in f inancial assets at fair value
through prof it or loss in the Statement of Financial Position.
(k) Expenses
All expenses, including investment management fees, administration fees and
custodian fees are recognised in prof it or loss on an accruals basis.
(l) Offsetting
Financial assets and f inancial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented
in the Statement of Financial Position when, and only when, the Company has a
legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and intends to settle them on a net
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses presented on a net basis for gains and losses f rom f inancial
instruments at fair value through prof it or loss and foreign exchange gains and losses.
(m) Share capital
The Company’s share capital comprises of redeemable participating shares. All
issued redeemable participating shares are fully paid. A reconciliation of the number
and value of shares outstanding at the beginning and end of each reporting period
is provided in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of
Redeemable Participating Shares and Note 8 to the f inancial statements.
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(v) Derecognition
The Company derecognises a f inancial asset when the contractual rights
to the cash flows f rom the f inancial asset expire or it transfers the f inancial
asset, and the transfer qualif ies for derecognition in accordance with IFRS 9. A
f inancial liability is derecognised when the obligation specif ied in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expired.

(h) Translation of foreign currencies
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(n) Redeemable shares
The redeemable shares issued by the Company provide an investor with the right
to require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investor’s share in
the Company’s net assets at each redemption date. In accordance with IAS 32,
Financial Instruments: Presentation (“IAS 32”), such instruments meet the def inition
of puttable instruments. A puttable instrument may be classif ied as a f inancial
liability or an equity instrument depending on its features. The redeemable shares
issued by the company are classif ied as equity instruments as they do not meet the
condition to be classif ied as f inancial liabilities. Redeemable shares are measured
at the redemption amount.
Following the restructuring of the Company in January 2017, and the creation of two
share classes, all shares in the Company are classif ied as redeemable participating
shares. Redeemable participating shares are redeemable at the shareholder’s option
and were previously classif ied as f inancial liabilities. A redeemable participating
share can be put back to the Company at any time for cash or, with the approval of
the Directors, for assets equal to a proportionate share of the Company’s net asset
value. A redeemable participating share is carried at the redemption amount that
is payable at the Statement of Financial Position date if the shareholder exercises
the right to put the share back to the Company. The Company conducted the VPF
C f inal redemption exercise to return capital to investors on 25 March 2021 and the
f inal cash distribution following settlement of all liabilities and winding down of
the share class was made on 21 June 2021. The cash distribution is recognised as a
distribution expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

3

NET GAIN ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Dividend income
Interest income
Net gain on investments
Net foreign exchange gain
Other income*

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

USD

USD

440,116

662,466

1,513

236,907

15,194,864

6,575,402

4,360

20,445

108,803

65,416

15,749,656

7,560,636

*Other income comprises the redemption fees applicable to VPF A share redemptions.
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Current tax is provided against the Company’s taxable prof its, at amounts expected
to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date.
Dividend and interest income received by the Company may be subject to
withholding tax imposed in the country of origin. Investment income is recorded
gross of such taxes and the withholding tax is recognised as ‘non-reclaimable
withholding tax’ in the prof it or loss.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary differences that have originated but
not reversed at the reporting date. Provision is made at the rates expected to apply when the
temporary differences reverse.
Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of an asset or
liability in the Statement of Financial Position and its tax base.
A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable prof its
will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benef it will be realised.
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(o) Taxation
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4

5

OPERATING EXPENSES

NOTES

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

USD

USD

INVESTMENT MANAGER
Investment Management fee

9,11

(612,181)

(588,137)

Performance fee

9,11

(2,220,038)

(738,457)

(2,832,219)

(1,326,594)

(17,491)

(70,293)

CUSTODIAN
Custodian fees

9

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board determines the fees payable to each Director. The maximum remuneration
is USD 75,000 per Director per annum. Directors’ fees paid by the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2021 were USD 150,000 (31 December 2020: USD 150,000).

6

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

ADMINISTRATOR
Administration fees

9
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(69,187)

(6,000)

(6,000)

(55,330)

(75,187)

OTHER EXPENSES
Directors’ fees

5,11

(150,000)

(150,000)

Directors’ Insurance

(21,800)

(25,642)

Professional fees

(67,417)

(324,580)

Audit fee*

(56,717)

(73,103)

Other expenses

(57,896)

(211,751)

(353,830)

(785,076)

(3,258,870)

(2,257,150)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
*The audit fee relates solely to the provision of audit services.

Cash and bank balances

31/12/2020

USD

USD

50,235

6,442,224

50,235

6,442,224

All cash and bank balances held outside Vietnam were held with Australia and
New Zealand Banking Group Limited that has a Standard & Poor’s short-term
credit rating of A-1+ as at 31 December 2021. Cash held in Vietnam is held by the
sub-custodian Citibank whose parent Citigroup Inc has a Standard & Poor’s shortterm credit rating of A-2 as at 31 December 2021.
(2020: At 31 December 2020, all cash and bank balances held outside Vietnam were
held with State Street Custodial Services (Ireland) Limited whose parent State
Street Corporation had a Standard & Poor’s short-term credit rating of A as at 31
December 2020. Cash held in Vietnam was held by the sub-custodian HSBC Bank
(Vietnam) Limited whose parent HSBC Holdings plc had a Standard & Poor’s shortterm rating of AA- as at 31 December 2020.
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Transfer Agency fees

(49,330)

31/12/2021
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7

Share transactions during the year ended 31 December 2021:
VPF A Shares

VPF C Shares

31/12/2021

31/12/2021

Shares in issue at beginning of year

41,861,151

109,768,832

Shares issued during the year

1,016,000

-

Shares redeemed during the year

(10,427,943)

(109,768,832)

Shares in issue at end of year

32,449,208

-

USD 37,007,704

-

USD 1.1405

-

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

USD

USD

Redemption proceeds payable

(108,587)

(675,551)

Accrued Investment Management fee*

(48,725)

(55,619)

(1,813,481)

(738,457)

Net Asset Value for holders of shares

(58,998)

(103,899)

Net Asset Value per share

(2,029,791)

(1,573,526)

Accrued performance fee*
Accrued other fees

*Refer to Note 11 for details.
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8

SHARE CAPITAL

Redeemable participating shares
The Company has an authorised share capital of USD 10,000,000 consisting of
2,000,000,000 shares of par value of USD 0.005 each as at year end 31 December
2021. The Company had two active share classes in 2021, VPF A shares were openended while VPF C shares were closed-ended.
VPF A shares and VPF C shares had the same rights in relation to voting, dividends,
return of share capital, and other matters as set out in the Articles. VPF C shares of
the Company were listed on Euronext Dublin.
Following the Final Redemption of all VPF C Shares on 25 March 2021, the Company
has one active share class, VPF A Shares. VPF A Shares will be available for subscription
on each Subscription Day at a price of US 1.00 per Share. A new series of VPF A
Shares will be issued on each Subscription Day on which VPF A Shares are issued.

Shares in issue at beginning of year
Shares issued during the year
Shares redeemed during the year
Shares in issue at end of year

Net Asset Value for holders of shares
Net Asset Value per share

VPF A Shares

VPF C Shares

31/12/2020

31/12/2020

52,610,257

189,256,596

-

-

(10,749,106)

(79,487,764)

41,861,151

109,768,832

USD 34,285,877

USD 26,241,759

USD 0.8190

USD 0.2391
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Share transactions during the year ended 31 December 2020:

PAGE

57

9

The Investment Management fees payable in respect of each share class are as
follows:

SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS

(a) Custodian
The Company appointed European Depositary Bank SA, Dublin Branch as the
Custodian to the Company pursuant to the Custodian Agreement dated 26
May 2021. Prior to this State Street Custodial Services (Ireland) Limited acted as
custodian of the Company’s assets, pursuant to an agreement which was dated 15
November 2006.
The Custodian fees are charged based on the NAV of the Company. The current
Custodial fee is 18 basis points per annum charged in arrears on a monthly basis.
The Custodian will be entitled to be reimbursed by the Company for all transaction
costs attributable to the Company and incurred by the Custodian f rom time to
time and any appropriately incurred third party fees and expenses, including fees
of any sub-custodian appointed by the Custodian at market rates.
The Custodian fee payable to the Custodian for the year ended 31 December 2021
was USD 17,491 (31 December 2020: USD 70,293) of which USD 5,754 was outstanding
at the year-end (31 December 2020: USD 5,782).
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The Company appointed Apex Fund Services Limited (“Apex”) to maintain the
books and f inancial records of the Company as Administrator (the “Administrator”)
pursuant to an agreement dated 1 April 2021. Prior to this the Company had
engaged State Street Fund Services (Ireland) Limited under an agreement which
dated to 10 November 2006.
The current rates for the Administration fee are 7 basis points (2020: 9 basis points)
per annum for the f irst USD 200 million (2020: USD 100 million) net assets, 6 basis
points (2020: 8 basis points) per annum for net assets between USD 200 and USD
400 million (2020: USD 100 million and USD 300 million) and 5 basis points (2020: 6
basis points) per annum for net assets in excess of USD 400 million (2020: USD 300
million) subject to an annual minimum of USD 40,000 (2020: USD 8,000 per SPE
and a maximum of 12 basis points per annum of the NAV of the Company)
The Administration fee payable to the Administrator for the year ended 31
December 2021 was USD 49,330 (31 December 2020: USD 69,187) of which USD Nil
was outstanding at the year-end (31 December 2020: USD 6,200).
(c) Investment Manager
Duxton Capital (Australia) Pty Ltd (“Investment Manager” or “Duxton”) is the
investment manager of the Fund, having been appointed with effect f rom 31
January 2020 pursuant to the terms of a novation agreement to the existing
Investment Management Agreement dated 29 December 2016.

VPF A shares: 1.50% per annum of the NAV of the VPF A Shares before any
deduction of the management fee for that month and before deduction of any
accrued performance fee.
VPF C shares: 0.50% of the NAV of the VPF C shares.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Investment Manager earned an
investment management fee of USD 612,181 (31 December 2020: USD 588,137)
of which USD 48,725 was outstanding at the year-end (31 December 2020: USD
55,619).
(ii) Performance fees
A performance fee is payable to the Investment Manager. The crystallised
performance fee payable to the Investment Manager for the year ended 31
December 2021 in respect of VPF A shares was USD 2,220,038 (31 December
2020: USD 738,457) of which USD 1,813,481 was outstanding at the year-end (31
December 2020: USD 738,457). The crystallised performance fee payable to the
Investment Manager for the year ended 31 December 2021 in respect of VPF C
shares was USD nil.
The Company pays performance fees to the Investment Manager calculated
by reference to the audited accounts of the Company. The calculation period
covers the 12 months ended 31 December 2021.
For each performance period, the performance fee in respect of each share class
is as follows:
VPF A
Performance fees will be equal to 15% of the appreciation in the NAV in
respect of this share class above the High-Water Mark (“HWM”) but only if
such appreciation exceeds the Hurdle Rate of 8% per annum and will be
payable on only the appreciation in the NAV above the HWM.
VPF C
Performance fees were historically paid according to the payments
structure described in detail in POM. No performance fees were accrued
or paid for the year ending 31 December 2021 in respect to VPC C. (31
December 2020 USD nil.).
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(b) Administrator

(i) Management fees
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Taxation

There are no taxes on income or gains in the Cayman Islands and the Company has
received an undertaking f rom the Governor in Council of the Cayman Islands, under
the Tax Concessions Law (1999 Revision), exempting it f rom all local income, prof its
and capital taxes until 26 September 2026. Accordingly, no provision for income
taxes payable in the Cayman Islands is included in these f inancial statements.
Dividend and interest income received by the Company may be subject to
withholding tax imposed in the country of origin. The investment income and any
associated withholding tax is recorded in the net gain/(loss) on investments at fair
value through prof it or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The f inancial statements assume that the tax consequences for the Company as
a result of its investments held by the subsidiary companies in Vietnam will be as
follows:

on any gain made when the Company sells or transfers this ownership interest
or shares to another party. This tax is chargeable at a rate of 20% f rom 1 January
2016 on the difference between the assignment proceeds and the original value of
the assigned capital, less the transaction costs. The original value of the assigned
capital is the actual capital amount which has been contributed by the transferor
as at the assignment date, as supported by and based on accounting books and
documents or the price at which the Company has acquired the investment.
(d) Deferred tax
The deferred tax position as at 31 December 2021 was USD Nil (31 December 2020:
USD Nil). The movement is reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Note 2 (o) provides further details on recognition of deferred tax in the f inancial
statements.

11

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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The Company will not be subject to any additional corporate income tax in
Vietnam on dividends the Group receives f rom the tax-paid prof its of Vietnamese
companies. Remittance of the dividends outside of Vietnam is also f ree of all taxes.

In accordance with IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, the following are the related
parties and associated related party transactions of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The Company receives dividends net of all taxes.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Investment Manager earned an
investment management fee of USD 612,181 (31 December 2020: USD 588,137)
of which USD 48,725 was outstanding at the year-end (31 December 2020: USD
55,619). In addition, for that year the Investment Manager also earned a crystallised
performance fee of USD 2,220,038 (31 December 2020: USD 738,457) of which USD
1,813,481 was outstanding at the year-end (31 December 2020: USD 738,457).

(b) Interest
Non-resident institutional investors are subject to a 5% withholding tax rate on
interest income received f rom corporate and government bonds and certif icates
of deposit, issued in Vietnam.
(c) Disposals
The Company and its non-Vietnamese resident SPEs are subject to a “deemed
prof its” tax in Vietnam when the Company’s SPEs dispose of any listed securities,
bonds or fund certif icates of its investee companies. This tax is equivalent to 0.1%
of the proceeds received f rom the transfer.
No relief is allowed for transaction costs and no allowance is taken for the cost
of investments (i.e., the existence of actual prof its is irrelevant). The tax is netted
against the realised gains/(losses) as part of the ‘net gain/(loss) on investments at
fair value through prof it or loss’ within the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
For investee companies where the Company invests in the legal/charter capital
of limited liability companies or shares in private companies (e.g., certain private
equity transactions), the Company will be subject to a “capital assignment” tax

The Investment Manager and its employees did not hold any share capital of the
Company at year end 31 December 2021 or year-end 31 December 2020.
Transactions with key management personnel
The total remuneration earned by the Directors during the year was USD 150,000
(2020: USD 150,000).
Transactions with SPEs
In accordance with the POM and the Articles, the Company may structure any or
all of its investments through wholly owned SPEs which act as SPEs incorporated
outside Vietnam. These SPEs listed in Note 1 and Note 12 are managed by the Board.
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(a) Dividends
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Of the three SPEs listed in Note 1, Beira Limited was the only SPE active at year
ended 31 December 2021. Furthermore, there are no signif icant restrictions on the
ability of the unconsolidated subsidiary above to transfer funds or to repay loans
or advances made to the unconsolidated subsidiary to the Company and there
are no current commitments or intentions to provide f inancial or other support to
the unconsolidated subsidiary. The SPE listed in the table above is incorporated in
the Cayman Islands, having the purpose of acting as holding investments of the
Company in Vietnam.

INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES

Investment entity status
To adopt the amendment to IFRS 10 and to be exempt f rom preparing consolidated
f inancial statements, the Company must meet the def inition of an IE. The Board
has determined that the Company meets both the required criteria and typical
characteristics of an IE.
The IFRS 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”, disclosures relate to the
Company’s involvement with:
(i)

Unconsolidated IE subsidiary entities as listed in Note 1.

(ii)

Non-subsidiary unconsolidated structured entities.

Interests in unconsolidated IE SPEs as at 31 December 2020:
Structured
Entity

Nature

Proportion of
Ownership
Interest Held

Company’s
Holding in Fair
Value (USD)

% of Total
Financial
Assets at Fair
Value through
Prof it or Loss

Maximum
Exposure to
Losses (USD)

Lionel Hill
Limited

Wholly owned
subsidiary

100%

19,861,060

35.68%

19,861,060

Beira Limited

Wholly owned
subsidiary

100%

38,927,343

64.32%

35,797,878

55,658,938

100%

55,658,938

(iii) Associated companies held via the SPEs.
Interest in unconsolidated IE subsidiary entities
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TOTAL

Interests in unconsolidated IE SPEs as at 31 December 2021:

Structured
Entity

Beira Limited

TOTAL

Nature

Wholly owned
subsidiary

Proportion of
Ownership
Interest Held

100%

Company’s
Holding in Fair
Value (USD)

% of Total
Financial
Assets at Fair
Value through
Prof it or Loss

Maximum
Exposure to
Losses (USD)

38,927,343

100%

38,927,343

38,927,343

100%

38,927,343

Of the three SPEs in operation and listed in Note 1, Lionel Hill Limited and Beira
Limited were active at year ended 31 December 2020.
Interests in non-subsidiary unconsolidated structured entities

Beira Limited was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands.

The Board has concluded that the Company had no directly held unconsolidated
structured entities. However, the Company holds all of its investments through
wholly owned subsidiary companies which are SPEs incorporated outside of
Vietnam. This structured entity interest forms part of the SPEs fair value that is
reflected in f inancial assets at fair value through prof it or loss in the Company’s
Statement of Financial Position.
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At 31 December 2021, the Company had one subsidiary entity as def ined under IFRS 10.
See Note 1 for details. This subsidiary entity is unconsolidated and is noted as f inancial
assets at fair value through prof it or loss in the Statement of Financial Position.
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Interests in associated companies in IE subsidiary entities

The Company has concluded that it has no investment in an associated company
as at 31 December 2021 (2020: one investment in associated company).

However, each risk control in place is not always limited to the mitigation of one
single, particular risk. Hence, shareholders should place the role of each risk control
in the broader context of the overall risk management of the Company. The total
concentration of risk is through the unconsolidated SPEs and their underlying
investments.

Interests in associated companies held via the SPEs as at 31 December 2020:

(a) Market risk

Interests in associated companies held via the SPEs as at 31 December 2021:

The table below details the interests in associated companies held by the Company
through the SPEs listed in Note 1.

Associated
Company

Nature

Company’s
holding in Fair
Value (USD)

% of Total
Net Assets of
Associated
Company
held by the
Company

% of Total
Financial
Assets at Fair
Value through
Prof it or Loss

Maximum
exposure to
losses (USD)

Anova
Corporation

Convertible
bond

7,798,115

16.40%

14.01%

7,798,115

PAGE

66

7,798,115

13

14.01%

7,798,115

Financial instruments

This note describes the risks associated with the f inancial assets and liabilities of
the Company and also the risks of the underlying portfolio of investments owned
by the Company’s wholly owned IE SPEs.
General risk management process
As an investment group, the risk management of f inancial instruments is
fundamental to the management of the Company’s business. The Company’s risk
management process is managed by the Investment Manager.
As def ined in IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, risk can be separated
into the following components: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Each type
of risk is disclosed in turn and qualitative and quantitative analyses are provided
where relevant to give shareholders an understanding of the risk management
methods used by the Investment Manager.

(i) Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a f inancial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those
arising f rom interest rate risk and currency risk which are addressed separately),
whether those changes are caused by factors specif ic to individual f inancial
instruments or its issuer, or other factors affecting similar f inancial instruments
traded in the market.
Objectives, policies and processes for managing market price risk
The Company undertakes to manage market price risk among the different
asset classes by pre-setting asset allocation targets. The asset allocation targets
are based on the Investment Manager’s projections of the market price risks
of the individual f inancial instruments that the Company holds. In pre-setting
allocations, the Investment Manager aims to achieve an optimal weightage of
the Company’s f inancial instruments to minimise market price risk, though
there is no guarantee this may be achieved.
Price fluctuations of individual quoted securities and their impact on the
Company’s estimated prof its and losses are estimated and internally published
on a daily basis. The Investment Manager adheres to a buy and sell discipline
based on the securities’ buy and sell target prices, which are determined
based on fundamental factors of the underlying investments. In managing
price fluctuations of small capitalisation, less liquid securities, the Investment
Manager may use internal investment guidelines setting typical thresholds in
terms of market capitalisation, average daily trading value, foreign ownership
ratio, and other factors.
Fluctuations in the valuation of unquoted securities and their impact on the
Company’s estimated prof its and losses are estimated and communicated to
shareholders on a quarterly basis. Note the Investment Manager’s decision to
make any private equity investments taking a long-term view, typically more
than 3 years. Therefore, quarterly fluctuations in the valuation of the private
equity investments are only for the purpose of client and f inancial reporting,
and not for the purpose of short- term investment decision making. However,
the Company does not hold any unquoted securities as at 31 December 2021.
For listed equities, the Investment Manager reviews the daily valuation report
provided by internal systems and the monthly valuation report provided by the
Administrator. Both parties obtain pricing of the securities independently; the
Administrator uses Ref initiv while the Investment Manager uses Bloomberg.
The Investment Manager will review and flag if there are any discrepancies. The
Administrator will then investigate and conf irm f inal valuations in accordance
with the Company’s pricing policy.
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TOTAL

This is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a f inancial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types
of risk: market price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk.
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Investments quoted, listed, traded or dealt in on any stock exchange, commodities
exchange or futures exchange (if any) are valued in accordance with the last
sale price of the investments sold on the relevant exchange on the day on which
the determination is made or, if that is not a trading day, on the last preceding
trading day. Interests in open-ended collective investment schemes (if any) are
valued at the last bid price published by the managers thereof.
The Company is exposed to inflation risk.
The asset class exposure as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 were as
follows:

31 DECEMBER 2021
USD

% Total Assets

31 DECEMBER 2020
USD

% Total Assets

Asset Class Exposure:

98.26%

34,587,275

55.70%

-

-

7,798,115

12.56%

Cash and cash equivalents

533,128

1.37%

13,049,971

21.01%

Other assets

34,629

0.09%

223,577

0.36%

38,927,343

99.72%

55,658,938

89.63%
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Net f inancial assets and liabilities at
fair value through prof it or loss

2021

2020

USD

USD

Net impact on prof it or loss and net assets

3,835,959

3,458,728

Effect in % of net assets:
Net impact on prof it or loss and net assets

10.37%

5.71%

EFFECT IN USD:

The industry sector breakdown for listed equities as at 31 December 2021 and
2020 is detailed below:

ASSETS HELD BY COMPANY DIRECTLY
Financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents

50,235

0.13%

6,442,224

10.37%

Other assets

59,917

0.15%

-

-

Net f inancial assets at amortised cost

110,152

0.28%

6,442,224

10.37%

TOTAL ASSETS

The table below sets out the effect on the Company’s prof it or loss and net
assets of a reasonably possible strengthening in the individual equity market
prices of 10% at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

39,037,495

100.00%

62,101,162

100.00%

*T he exposures noted are those arising in the Company’s SPEs that have been measured at fair value through prof it or
loss.

SECTOR

31 DECEMBER 2021

31 DECEMBER 2020

VPF A

VPF C

VPF A

VPF C

Materials

8%

-

13%

-

Consumer Staples

5%

-

18%

-

Real Estate Developers and
Construction Services

33%

-

26%

-

Information Technology

11%

-

14%

-

Financials

26%

-

17%

-

Consumer Discretionary

10%

-

7%

-

Energy

7%

-

5%

-

-

-

-

100%

100%

-

100%

100%

Agriculture
TOTAL
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38,359,586

Convertible Bonds

The Investment Manager is of the opinion that a +/- 10% price change in presenting
the sensitivity analysis is a reasonably possible change across all diverse asset
classes. Over the last 5 years, the annualised volatility of the VNIndex of the Ho
Chi Minh Stock Exchange, calculated using monthly returns, was 12.94%, 22.61%,
9.25%, 39.92% and 17.02% in calendar years f rom 2017 to 2021, respectively. It
should be noted that stock markets witnessed higher volatility over last 2 years
due to macroeconomic shocks primarily caused by the COVID- 19 pandemic.
However, other factors such as the increase in the number of retail investors,
and foreign investor outflows due to adjustments in asset allocation decisions
have also contributed to market volatility.

The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest and foreign
currency rates remain constant.

ASSETS HELD THROUGH SPEs
Financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through prof it or loss:*
Listed Equities

The Investment Manager estimates the reasonably possible market price
fluctuations for equity investments being a 10% sensitivity on an individual
investment basis, barring black swan events.
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(ii) Currency risk
Currency risk is def ined in IFRS 7 as the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a f inancial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates. This risk arises on f inancial instruments that are denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured. For
the purposes of IFRS 7, currency risk is ordinarily def ined to include monetary
items only, such that it therefore excludes non-monetary foreign currency
f inancial instruments.
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As such, the two main currencies held by the Company are the USD (the functional
currency of the Company) and the VND (which is required for investments into
Vietnam that require payment in the local currency). However, on occasion, the
Company may hold f inancial instruments denominated in a currency other than
the USD or VND as a consequence of buying securities that are listed on a nonVietnamese exchange and which are thus denominated in a currency other than
USD or VND. When selling these offshore equities which are denominated in
the offshore country’s base currency the Company may f rom time to time hold
cash that is denominated in a currency other than USD and VND. Under such
circumstances, the Investment Manager, on a best effort’s basis, will either buy
other offshore equities denominated in the offshore country’s base currency or
repatriate the amount held in the offshore country’s base currency into either
USD or VND as soon as possible. There are internal controls in place to ensure
that the Company adheres to this policy.
In summary, the Company’s exposure to currency risk is continually monitored
by the Investment Manager and hedging against such a risk will be entirely at
the Investment Manager’s discretion.
The following table sets out the Company’s exposure to currency risk. There is
no currency risk attached to the other assets and liabilities in the Company’s
f inancial statements as these are held in the Company’s functional currency.

31 December 2020

Assets

Liabilities

Net Assets

Assets

Liabilities

Net Assets

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

115,252

(2,029,791)

(1,914,539)

18,372,568

(1,573,526)

16,799,042

VND

562,657

-

562,657

9,141,319

-

9,141,319

VND

38,359,586

-

38,359,586

34,587,275

-

34,587,275

TOTAL

39,037,495

(2,029,791)

37,007,704

62,101,162

(1,573,526)

60,527,636

Monetary

Non-Monetary

The Investment Manager estimates that a reasonably possible strengthening
of the USD in relation to the other currencies is 5%. The movement in the
primary currency exchange rates to USD for the f inancial year is detailed in the
supplemental unaudited information to the f inancial statements.
The table below sets out the effect on the Company’s prof it or loss and net
assets of a reasonably possible strengthening of the USD in relation to the other
currencies by 5% at 31 December 2021 and 2020. This analysis assumes that all
other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant:

EFFECT IN USD:

Net impact on prof it or loss and net assets
Effect in % of net assets:

2021

2020

USD

USD

1,853,440

2,082,314

5.01%

3.44%

(iii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is def ined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
f inancial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
This risk arises on f inancial instruments whose fair value or future cash flows are
affected by changes in interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate
risk through the f ixed income portion of its assets. The management of such
risks is described below.
The following table details the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk at
year end. It includes the Company’s f inancial assets and trading liabilities,
categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity date measured
by the carrying value of the assets and liabilities:
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However, as the Company fair values all its non-monetary f inancial instruments,
all such assets have been included hereunder for the purpose of currency
risk exposure analysis. Under the Company’s investment objective, there is
no explicit intention of performance returns through currency gains and the
Company does not seek to speculate in currencies as one of its investment
objectives. The Investment Manager has also taken the view not to actively
hedge the VND against the USD, the two main currencies held by the Company,
as VND is often required for investments into Vietnamese-related securities that
require payment in the local currency. Therefore, the Investment Manager sees
no circumstances where it may deem it necessary to hedge the exposure to
currency risk. A currency risk policy is therefore not in place in the management
of the Company.

31 December 2021
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31 DECEMBER 2021

Maturity
< 1 yr

Maturity
1 to 5 yrs

Maturity
> 5 yrs

Non-Interest
Bearing

Total Carrying
Value

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD
THROUGH SPEs

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD
THROUGH SPEs

Financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through prof it or loss:

Financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through prof it or loss:

Equities
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets
Net f inancial assets at fair value
through prof it or loss

-

-

-

38,359,586

38,359,586

533,128

-

-

-

533,128

Bonds

-

-

-

34,629

34,629

Cash and cash equivalents

533,128

-

-

38,394,215

38,927,343

Maturity
1 to 5 yrs

Maturity
> 5 yrs

Non-Interest
Bearing

Total Carrying
Value

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

-

-

-

34,587,275

33,237,326

7,798,115

-

-

-

7,798,115

13,049,971

-

-

-

13,049,971

-

-

-

223,577

223,577

20,848,086

-

-

34,810,852

55,658,938

6,442,224

-

-

-

6,442,224

-

-

-

(1,573,526)

(1,573,526)

Financial assets and liabilities at
amortised cost

-

-

-

50,235

Other assets

-

-

-

59,917

59,917

Other Liabilities

-

-

-

(2,029,791)

(2,029,791)

50,235

-

-

(1,969,874)

(1,919,639)

Net f inancial assets and
liabilities at amortised cost

6,442,224

-

-

(1,573,526)

4,868,698

583,363

-

-

36,424,341

37,007,704

TOTAL NET ASSETS

27,290,310

-

-

33,237,326

60,527,636

Net f inancial assets and
liabilities at amortised cost
TOTAL NET ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Other Liabilities

VND-denominated bond portfolio
As at 31 December 2021 the Company does not hold any VND denominated
bonds. As at 31 December 2020 the VND denominated bond portfolio comprised
of an unlisted convertible bond issued by Anova which is not rated by Standard
& Poor’s or any other credit rating agency. The associated risks and sensitivities
are detailed in Note 14 and are therefore not included in the sensitivity analysis
below.
Cash and cash equivalents
At 31 December 2021, if the market interest rates had increased by 1% with all other
variables remaining constant, the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable
participating shares would have increased by USD 58,336 (31 December 2020:
USD 194,922). As market interest rates at year-end were less than 1%, a decrease
of a full 1% on cash and bank balances is theoretically not possible.
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50,235

Cash and cash equivalents
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Other assets

Maturity
< 1 yr

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD
BY COMPANY DIRECTLY

Financial assets and liabilities at
amortised cost

72

Equities

Net f inancial assets at fair value
through prof it or loss

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD
BY COMPANY DIRECTLY
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(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a f inancial instrument will cause a f inancial loss
for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. This includes counterparty
risk and issuer risk. In relation to the Company, it can arise f rom receivables
due f rom another party, placing deposits with other entities, purchases of debt
securities and entering into derivative contracts. As at year end 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2020, there were no derivative contracts held by the Company.
(c) Counterparty risk
For counterparty risk, the Investment Manager requires that any use of brokers be
approved by its Chief Investment Off icer and Chief Operating Off icer. Documents
reviewed when considering whether a broker will be admitted as an approved
broker include (i) latest audited accounts or annual report of the entity where the
Investment Manager or its clients will have exposure to the broker as a counterparty,
(ii) brief prof ile of the company (e.g. main activities, geographic/markets coverage),
(iii) copy of corporate structure including shareholdings (where broker is to be
used as a counterparty) and (iv) letter of undertaking f rom parent company, if
applicable. Upon approval, operations will inform the dealer and Investment
Manager accordingly, including the limits allocated to the brokers.
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In managing credit risk, the Investment Manager observes the following investment
restrictions and requirements, as set out in the POM, in respect of the investment
of the assets attributable to the VPF A Shares:
(i) 	
no more than 20 per cent of the gross assets may be invested in the
securities of a single issuer or may be exposed to the creditworthiness or
solvency of any one counterparty;
(ii)

t he Fund may not invest in unlisted securities without the prior approval of
the Directors and, at any such times when approval is given;

(ix) 	the Fund will not take or seek to take legal or management control of the
issuer of underlying investments.
In addressing issuer risk, f inancial institutions outside of Vietnam must have a
minimum short-term credit rating of Prime-1 (Moody) / A-1 (Standard & Poor) /
F-1 (Fitch Ratings). Such deposit instruments may include money-market funds
or f ixed income instruments with a term of less than 3 months provided that the
instrument has a credit rating of ‘A’ or above. For the purpose of this paragraph,
a credit rating of ‘A’ refers to the credit rating allotted by Standard & Poor’s. For
instruments with no credit ratings available, the Company monitors the credit risk
and credit spreads on a regular basis.
Note 13(a)(iii) and Note 14 provide further details on the risks and sensitivities
associated with the listed and unlisted f ixed income instruments respectively.
As at 31 December 2021, all of the assets (other than its assets located in Vietnam or
assets located in any other jurisdictions which require assets to be held by a local
custodian, pursuant to the Custodian Agreement) of the Company are held by the
Custodian. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Custodian may cause the Company’s
rights with respect to securities held by the Custodian to be delayed or limited. The
Company monitors its risk by monitoring the credit rating and f inancial positions
of the Custodian and by monitoring the credit rating of its sub-custodian Citibank
(31 December 2020: HSBC Bank (Vietnam) Limited).
The carrying amounts of f inancial assets set out in the table below best represent
the maximum credit risk exposure at the date of the Statement of Financial Position.
Other assets included in the table below consist of amounts due to the Company
for unsettled trades, are current in nature and are expected to be recovered in the
short term.
No collateral was received by the Company in respect of investments in debt
securities, for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

(iii) 	no more than 10% of the gross assets may be invested in unlisted securities;

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

USD

USD

-

7,798,115

Cash & Cash Equivalents

533,128

13,049,971

Interest & Other Receivables

34,629

278,577

Cash & Cash Equivalents

50,235

6,442,224

Interest & Other Receivables

59,917

-

677,909

27,568,887

(iv) 	
n o more than 5% of the gross assets may be invested in the unlisted
securities of a single issuer;
(v) 	no more than 40 per cent of the gross assets may be invested in another
single fund;
(vi) 	no more than 20 per cent, in aggregate, of the value of the gross assets will
be invested in other funds whose principal investment objectives include
investing in other funds;
(vii) the Fund will not invest directly in physical commodities;

Assets and liabilities held through SPEs
Investment in Debt Instruments

Assets and liabilities held by Company
directly
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(d) Issuer risk
Issuer risk is associated with transacting in exchange traded debt securities and
is monitored by use of credit ratings. For funds investing in debt securities, the
investment objectives provide details of the credit rating restrictions imposed on
that fund.

(viii) 	the Fund will not make any direct investment in real estate, although
the Fund may invest in any derivatives of real estate, such as securities of
investment fund vehicles making investments in real estate; and
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(e) Liquidity risk

(ii) Equities

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter diff iculty in meeting its
f inancial obligations as they fall due.

To manage risk in both the listed and unlisted portions of the portfolio, the
Company observes the condition that no more than 20 per cent of the gross
assets of the Company may be invested in the securities of a single issuer or
may be exposed to the creditworthiness or solvency of any one counterparty

The Company holds suff icient liquid assets at all times to meet its obligations to
cover operating expenses. To prevent signif icant exposure to f inancial liabilities in
an underlying holding, the Company is not permitted to acquire an interest in an
investment which exposes the Company to unlimited liability.
As at year end 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, there was no net exposure
arising through the Company’s holdings in its SPEs as current assets in the SPEs
exceed current liabilities.
The Investment Manager’s policy of managing the liquidity of the Company’s
investments is as follows:
The VPF A Shares are redeemable monthly at the option of the shareholders. The
majority of VPF A Shares portfolio are liquid listed securities. Any VPF A Share
redemption notice must be received at least 30 business days prior to the relevant
redemption date and the payment date is generally within 20 days of the relevant
redemption date. Therefore, the Investment Manager has approximately 50 days to
liquidate assets to satisfy any redemption requests, which the Investment Manager
expects to be suff icient under normal market conditions. The Company could limit
the ability of the shareholder to redeem f rom VPF A if required.

PAGE

76

The following paragraphs describe the risk controls taken to manage the risk levels
of each of the f inancial instruments stated below:
(i) Cash & cash equivalents
The Company’s investments in Vietnam are in securities that are denominated
in VND. Therefore, a signif icant cash portion of the Company is held in VND.
The VND is held in bank accounts with Citibank N.A. (Vietnam), as sub-custodian.
The Investment Manager has taken the view not to actively hedge the VND
against the USD as VND is often needed for investments into Vietnameserelated securities that require payment in the local currency.
The Company may hold up to 100 per cent of its assets in cash at any time at the
sole discretion of the Investment Manager.

Listed equities are exposed to market price risks. The Investment Manager has
adopted a prudent approach in building Company exposure to the broader
Vietnamese markets to minimise such risks. The Company’s exposure to market
price risk at 31 December 2021 is equivalent to the fair values of underlying
investments held by SPEs. The value of listed equities as at 31 December 2021
was USD 38,359,586 (103.65% of NAV), 31 December 2020: USD 34,587,275 (55.84%
of NAV).
(iv) Unlisted equities
The Company may hold investments in unlisted equities with the prior approval
of the Board.
Note 12 details the Company’s interests in associated companies. These
associated companies are entities over whose f inancial and operating policies
the Company has the ability to exercise signif icant influence.
(v) Other liabilities
Other liabilities comprise expense accruals, all of which are payable within
one month of transaction date. To manage the associated liquidity risk, the
Investment Manager regularly monitors the level of these short-term liabilities
and maintains a cash balance suff icient to meet these liabilities as their
settlement dates fall due.
The table below analyses the Company’s non-derivative f inancial liabilities into
the relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining period at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2020 to the contractual maturity date. Accounts payable
are detailed in Note 7.
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(f ) Risk management controls for f inancial instruments

(iii) Listed equities
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Within 1 month

Between 1 month + 1 year

Total

USD

USD

USD

Accounts payable

(2,029,791)

-

(2,029,791)

TOTAL

(2,029,791)

-

(2,029,791)

Within 1 month

Between 1 month + 1 year

Total

USD

USD

USD

Accounts payable

(1,573,526)

-

(1,573,526)

TOTAL

(1,573,526)

-

(1,573,526)

31 DECEMBER 2021

31 DECEMBER 2020

(g) Operational risk

The Company’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the limiting
of f inancial losses and damage to its reputation with achieving its investment
objective of generating returns to shareholders.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls
over operational risk rests with the Board. This responsibility supported by the
development of overall standards for the management of operational risk,
which encompasses the controls and processes at the service providers and the
establishment of service levels with the service providers, in the following areas:
(i)

Documentation of controls and procedures;

(ii)

Requirements for:

Substantially all the assets of the Company are held by the custodian. The bankruptcy
or insolvency of the Custodian may cause the Company’s rights with respect to the
securities held by the Custodian to be limited. The Investment Manager monitors
the credit ratings and capital activity of the Custodian through the review of the
SOC report on the internal controls annually.
(i) COVID-19 pandemic
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 to
be a Pandemic. Since this date, governments worldwide have enacted emergency
measures to combat the spread of COVID-19. These measures, which included the
implementation of travel bans, closing of non-essential businesses, self-imposed
quarantine periods, and social distancing, have caused signif icant volatility in
global equity markets and material disruptions to businesses globally, resulting in
an economic slowdown.
It remains uncertain for how long the COVID-19 Pandemic will continue to impact
the economic and f inancial markets globally and regionally. However, as global
vaccination rates remain high, and the easing of restrictions worldwide continues,
we do not anticipate these impacts will cause major shocks or disruptions that were
evident during the initial outbreak of the pandemic.
The Investment Manager continues to monitor the impact of COVID-19 on the
Company’s portfolio and will actively make investment decisions where and when
necessary.
Operationally, COVID-19 may affect the suppliers of services to the Company,
including the Investment Manager, the Administrator, and other key third parties;
particularly in relation to absences of key personnel and access to colleagues and
systems while working remotely. Although to date, these services have continued
seamlessly, the Board continues to monitor the Company’s operating arrangements.

(h) Other general risk management procedures
The Company will not:

i. t he appropriate segregation of duties between various functions, roles
and responsibilities; the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
and

(i) 	 Acquire an interest in an investment which exposes the Company to
unlimited liability;

ii. the periodic assessment of operational risk.

(ii) 	Make any investments on margin unless to meet the requirements of
settlement; or

(iii)

The adequacy of controls and procedures to address the risk identif ied;

(iv)

Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;

(v)

Development of contingency plans;

(vi)

Training and professional development;

(iii) Undertake any short-selling.
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Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising f rom a wide variety of
causes associated with the processes, technology and inf rastructure supporting
the Company’s activities with f inancial instruments, either internally within the
Company or externally at the Company’s service providers, and f rom external
factors other than credit, market and liquidity risk such as those arising f rom legal
and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of investment
management behavior.

The Board’s assessment of the adequacy of the controls and processes in place at
the service providers with respect to operational risk is carried out via regular and
ad hoc discussions with the service providers and a review of the service providers’
Service Organisation Controls (SOC) reports on internal controls.

(vii) Ethical and business standards; and
(viii) Risk mitigation, including insurance if this is effective.
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The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires signif icant judgement
by the Company. The Company considers observable data to be that market data
that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verif iable,
not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in
the relevant market.

FAIR VALUE INFORMATION AND HIERARCHY

This note describes the fair value measurement of the assets and liabilities of the
Company and also the assets and liabilities the Company’s SPEs.

The Company invests directly into SPE as described in Note 12 which onwards
invests in underlying listed securities. The investment in SPE has been classif ied
as Level 2 (2020: Level 2).
The following table analyses the fair value hierarchy within the Company’s f inancial
instruments measured at fair value at 31 December 2021:
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LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

TOTAL FAIR VALUE

USD

USD

USD

USD

“Fair value” is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which
the Company has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its nonperformance risk.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD
THROUGH SPEs

The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Listed Equities

38,359,586

-

-

38,359,586

Level 1: Q
 uoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical
instrument.

Total

38,359,586

-

-

38,359,586

533,128

-

-

533,128

-

34,629

-

34,629

38,892,714

34,629

-

38,927,343

50,235

-

-

50,235

Other assets

-

59,917

-

59,917

Other liabilities

-

(2,029,791)

-

(2,029,791)

50,235

(1,969,874)

-

(1,919,639)

38,942,949

(1,935,245)

-

37,007,704

Level 2: V
 aluation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e.,
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived f rom prices). This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted prices for identical or similar instruments
in markets that are considered less than active including securities priced
using quotations received f rom brokers, whenever available and considered
reliable; or other valuation techniques where all signif icant inputs are
directly or indirectly observable f rom market data.
Level 3: V
 aluation techniques using signif icant unobservable inputs. This category
includes all instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not
based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a signif icant
effect on the instrument’s valuation and instruments that are valued based
on quoted prices for similar instruments where signif icant unobservable
adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between
the instruments.
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is
categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that
is signif icant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the
signif icance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety.
If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require signif icant
adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level 3
measurement. Assessing the signif icance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specif ic to
the asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through prof it or loss

Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets
Net f inancial assets at fair value
through prof it or loss
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD
BY COMPANY DIRECTLY
Financial assets and liabilities at
amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents

Net f inancial assets and liabilities
at amortised cost
TOTAL NET ASSETS
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IFRS 13, “Fair value measurement”, requires the Company to classify fair value
measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the signif icance of the
inputs used in making the measurements.
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The following table analyses the fair value hierarchy within the Company’s f inancial
instruments measured at fair value at 31 December 2020:

LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

TOTAL FAIR VALUE

Convertible Bonds

Total

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

7,798,115

7,798,115

11,551

11,551

Unrealised gain/(losses)

-

-

Purchases

-

-

(7,809,666)

(7,809,666)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD
THROUGH SPEs

Opening Fair Value
Realised gain

Financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through prof it or loss
Listed Equities
Convertible Bonds
Total
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets
Net f inancial assets at fair value
through prof it or loss

34,587,275

-

-

34,587,275

-

-

7,798,115

7,798,115

34,587,275

-

7,798,115

42,385,390

Transfers out of Level 3

-

-

13,049,971

-

-

13,049,971

Transfers into Level 3

-

-

-

223,577

-

223,577

CLOSING FAIR VALUE

-

-

47,637,246

223,577

7,798,115

55,658,938

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD
BY COMPANY DIRECTLY
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Net f inancial assets and liabilities
at amortised cost
TOTAL NET ASSETS

6,442,224

-

-

6,442,224

-

(1,573,526)

-

(1,573,526)

6,442,224

(1,573,526)

-

4,868,698

54,079,470

(1,969,874)

7,798,115

60,527,636

Listed & Unlisted Equities

Convertible Bonds

Total

USD

USD

USD

Opening Fair Value

12,105,099

10,483,162

22,588,261

Realised losses

(5,018,469)

-

(5,018,469)

7,092,522

(2,685,047)

4,407,475

-

-

-

(14,179,152)

-

(14,179,152)

Transfers out of Level 3

-

-

-

Transfers into Level 3

-

-

-

CLOSING FAIR VALUE

-

7,798,115

7,798,115

Unrealised gain/(losses)
Purchases
Sales

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s subsidiary Lionel Hill Limited held the
convertible bond in Anova which was carried in the Company’s Statement of
Financial Position at USD 7,798,115 and was categorised as Level 3 within the Fair
Value hierarchy.
Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred
when the pricing source or methodology used to price an investment has changed
which triggers a change in level as def ined under IFRS 13. There were no transfers
between the fair value hierarchy levels during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2020.
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Other liabilities

Sales

The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of f inancial
instruments categorised within Level 3 during the year ended 31 December 2020:

Financial assets and liabilities at
amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents

Level 3 Reconciliation
The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of f inancial
instruments categorised within Level 3 during the year ended 31 December 2021:
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The realised gains and losses and the movement in unrealised gains and losses
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as a net gain/(loss) on
investments at fair value through prof it or loss.
As at 31 December 2020, the Company held an investment in a private company in
the form of a convertible bond which is categorized as a Level 3 investment under
IFRS 13.
The Company’s SPE Lionel Hill Limited held the convertible bond in Anova which
was carried in the Company’s Statement of Financial Position at USD 7,798,115 as at
31 December 2020. The right to redeem this remaining VPF C portfolio investment
was exercised on 16 December 2020. As at f inancial year end 31 December 2020 the
Board approved the valuation, based on the f inal redemption proceeds due and
payable on the 15 January 2021.
The VPF C redemption of the Anova convertible bond was completed on 15 January
2021, with the Company receiving the consideration sum of USD 7,809,666, net of
capital gains tax and interest receivable.
As the 31 December 2020 valuation of the Level 3 security was based on the expected
amount to be realised on the sale of this security, a sensitivity analysis or a valuation
range is therefore not applicable to this investment for these f inancial statements.

LEVEL 3 SECURITY

Fair Value as at 31 December 2020
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Anova (convertible bond)

15

7,798,115

Signif icant events during the year

Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic was relatively under control until early June 2021,
Vietnam’s economy was hit harshly by the fourth wave and the breakout of the
Delta variant in most provinces in Q3 2021. Cases related to the fourth wave of the
pandemic started to increase in June and several provinces were placed into strict
lockdown for most of Q3 2021, including Hanoi, Ho Chi Minh, and 18 other provinces
in the south which together contributed over 70% of Vietnam’s total GDP in 2020.
As a result, Vietnam’s GDP contracted 6.2% YoY in Q3 2021 – the largest quarterly
reduction in Vietnam’s GDP on record.
The pandemic started to stabilise f rom late August with the rapid COVID-19 vaccine
rollout enabling provinces to loosen lockdown restrictions f rom mid-September.
Between 30 August 2021 and 31 December 2021, the number of administered
vaccines rose f rom 20.2 million to 150.9 million, covering 75% of the country’s
population. Social distancing measures have been removed and manufacturers
have resumed operations post lockdown.
The VPF C redemption of the Anova convertible bond was completed on 15 January
2021, with the Company receiving the consideration sum of USD 7,809,666, net of
capital gains tax and interest receivable.
The Company Secretary changed its name f rom DMS Corporate Services Ltd. to
Waystone Governance Ltd., effective 8 February 2021.
On 25 March 2021, the Company conducted the VPF C shares f inal redemption
exercise to return capital to investors at the price per share of USD 0.2366.
On 25 March 2021, the Company delisted its VPF C shares f rom Euronext Dublin.

Commitments

There were no commitments to investments as at 31 December 2021 or 31 December 2020.

With effect f rom 31 March 2021, State Street Fund Services (Ireland) Limited ceased
to act as Administrator to the Company and was replaced as Administrator by Apex
Fund Services Limited, effective 1 April 2021.
With effect f rom 25 November 2021, State Street Custodial Services (Ireland)
Limited ceased to act as Custodian to the Company and was replaced as Custodian
by European Depositary Bank SA, Dublin Branch. With effect f rom 25 November
2021, HSBC Bank (Vietnam) Limited ceased to act as sub-custodian to the Company
and was replaced as sub-custodian by Citibank.
The Company’s SPE, Prime Limited was liquidated and a certif icate of dissolution was
received f rom the Cayman Islands Registrar of Companies, effective 26 April 2021.
The Company’s SPE, Lionel Hill Limited was liquidated, and a certif icate of
dissolution was received f rom the Cayman Islands Registrar of Companies, effective
13 September 2021.
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USD

16
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Signif icant events after the year end

No signif icant events have occurred since the end of the reporting period which
would have an impact on the f inancial position of the Company as disclosed in the
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021 or on the results and cash
flows of the Company for the year ended on that date.
Having completed a major restructure of the Fund, with the successful delisting
and liquidation of the private equity C class shares, Mr Judd Kinne and Mr Martin
Adams, have indicated their intention to step down f rom the Board of the Fund
later this year. The Fund is currently reviewing suitable candidates to join the Board
and will provide an update in due course.
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At the time of signing these f inancial statements, there is an increased level of
global uncertainty associated with the conflict in Ukraine. The impacts of the
Ukraine conflict are not yet known but are likely to result in increased market and
economic volatility, which may in turn have an impact on the Company. As per
the current situation, the Company does not hold any investments in Russia or
Ukraine, hence there is no direct impact expected.
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Approval of the f inancial statements

The f inancial statements were approved by the Board on 19 May 2022.

HOI AN
VIETNAM
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OTHER INFORMATION

SUPPLEMENTAL UNAUDITED INFORMATION

(Unaudited)

Registered Office
Suite 5B201,
2nd Floor, One Nexus Way,
Camana Bay,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands
Investment Manager
Duxton Capital (Australia) Pty Ltd.,
7 Pomona Road,
Stirling, SA 5152,
Australia
Custodian
State Street Custodial Services (Ireland) Limited,
(until 25 November 2021)
78 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay,
Dublin 2,
Ireland
European Depositary Bank SA, Dublin Branch
(from 26 November 2021)
2nd Floor, Block 5
Irish Life Centre
Abbey Street Lower
Dublin 1, D01 P767,
Ireland
Sub-Custodian
HSBC Bank (Vietnam) Limited,
(until 25 November 2021)
New World Hotel Building,
75 Pham Hong Thai, District 1,
Ho Chi Minh City,
Vietnam
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Citibank, N.A. Hanoi Branch
(from 26 November 2021)
11st floor, Horison Tower, 40 Cat Linh Street,
Cat Linh Ward, Dong Da District,
Hanoi,
Vietnam
Administrator, Registrar and Transfer Agent
State Street Fund Services (Ireland) Limited,
(until 31 March 2021)
78 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay,
Dublin 2,
Ireland

Apex Fund Services Limited,
(from 1 April 2021)
Vallis Building, 4th Floor,
58 Par-La-Ville Road, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
Dealing Enquiries
Duxton Capital (Australia) Pty Ltd.,
7 Pomona Road,
Stirling SA 5152, Australia
Company Secretary
DMS Corporate Services Ltd.,
(until 7 February 2021)
DMS House,
20 Genesis Close,
P.O. Box 1344,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands
Waystone Governance Ltd.
(from 8 February 2021)
Suite 5B201, 2nd Floor, One Nexus Way, Camana Bay,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands
Auditors
KPMG
P.O. Box 493
SIX Cricket Square
Grand Cayman, KY1-1106,
Cayman Islands
Legal Advisor to the Company
on Cayman Islands Law
Ogier,
89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay,
Grand Cayman, KY1-9009,
Cayman Islands

RECONCILIATION TO DEALING NAV
(UNAUDITED)

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

USD

USD

NAV per IFRS f inancial statements

37,007,704

60,527,636

108,587

675,551

-

738,457

37,116,291

61,941,644

Adjustments:
Capital redemptions with trade date
31 December 2021/2020, settlement
date January 2022/2021
(VPF A shares)
Performance fee under-accrued
NAV per dealing NAV

Seasonal or cyclical changes
The Company is not subject to seasonal or cyclical changes.
Exchange rates
The year-end exchange rates to USD are as follows:

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

EUR

Euro

0.8829

0.8173

GBP

British Pound

0.7402

0.7316

VND

Vietnamese Dong

22,826.0000

23,082.5000

Legal Advisor to the Company on Irish Law
Matheson,
70 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay,
Dublin 2,
Ireland
Irish Listing Agent and Irish Paying Agent
Matheson,
(until 25 March 2021)
70 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay,
Dublin 2,
Ireland
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Citibank N.A. London branch
(from 26 November 2021)
CitiGroup Centre,
Canada Square,
Canary Wharf,
London, E14 5LB,
United Kingdom
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GOLDEN BRIDGE, HÒA NINH, HÒA VANG, DANANG
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